



**MASTER THESIS** 

The Influence of Hydrogel, Temperature, Oxygen, and Cytokines on Human Chondrocytes using *in vitro* Culture-Based Models

E.V.A. van Hengel Developmental BioEngineering (DBE) Applied Microfluidics for BioEngineering Research (AMBER) Faculty of Science & Technology (TNW) University of Twente, The Netherlands

## **EXAMINATION COMMITTEE**

C.A. Paggi, MSc (Daily Supervisor) Dr. L.S. Moreira Teixeira Leijten (Committee Member) Prof.dr.ir. S. le Gac (Supervisor) Prof.dr. H.B.J. Karperien (Committee Chairman) Dr. A.D. van der Meer (External Member)

19 January 2021

# **UNIVERSITY OF TWENTE.**

## Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisors for their great guidance and support during my research project. First of all, I would like to thank my daily supervisor Carlo Alberto Paggi. From the moment he introduced me to the microfluidic platform up to now, he enthused me for this project and helped me to stay curious and motivated. Thank you for always being approachable and available, and for letting me have the freedom to explore. Your guidance will be useful for my entire personal and professional life.

I want to express my gratitude to Marcel Karperien, for the opportunity to work on this very interesting project, and for allowing me to extend my Dex/HA hydrogel skills. Your excellent and helpful feedback has been very useful during my project!

To Séverine le Gac, thank you for all the knowledge, advice, encouragement, and guidance during my master project, for the AMBER Starbucks coffee breaks and the tasty chocoladeletter as support while writing this thesis.

I would like to thank Liliana Moreira Teixeira Leijten and Andries van der Meer for taking part in my graduation committee, for their interest and enthusiasm on the project, and for evaluating the thesis.

Further, thanks to Malin Becker for showing me how to make Dex/HA, doing nanoindentation measurements, and taking gorgeous SEM images of the hydrogels. Thanks to Jan Hendriks for performing the SPR measurements and helping me out on how to evaluate the data. And thanks to Lisanne Morhuis, for explaining the MMP activity assay protocol to me on the last day before the Christmas holidays.

Next, I want to thank all members and students of both DBE and AMBER departments for the support and fun times during my project. Especially I would like to thank Luuk, Yvonne, and Beatriz for making the lab fun and making me laugh every day while making PDMS chips (yes Carlo, I did like the chip fabrication part!). Your presence helped me to stay motivated during the COVID-19 pandemic and was essential for me to finish this thesis.

Finally, I would like to thank my family, friends and boyfriend for supporting me.

# Abstract

Osteoarthritis is one of the most common knee cartilage diseases affecting over 1,4 million people in the Netherlands in 2018 and results in cartilage destruction and impaired mobility. Due to the unique structure and characteristics of articular cartilage, there is currently no appropriate *in vitro* model available that fully mimics the *in vivo* situation, limiting the research on disease progress and drug development. Important requirements for a culture model are the low physiological temperature (32,6 °C) and oxygen levels (2,5% O<sub>2</sub>) of cartilage, and the ability to culture in a dynamic three-dimensional environment, enabling both mechanical and biochemical stimuli. In this study, the aim was to establish a chondrocyte *in vitro* culture system which comprises all required factors. To this end, the project was split into two sections: the first part to study hydrogels for a dynamic culture, the second part to study a physiological culture environment.

Current protocols rely on agarose as a matrix for chondrocyte culture, but this gel lacks various features, such as cell attachment sites and the ability for cells to proliferate. Therefore, the use of Dex-TA/HA-TA hydrogel was evaluated for a three-dimensional dynamic culture system. Dex/HA chondrocytes showed viability, maintenance of the chondrogenic phenotype, motility, and enhanced production of degradative factors, suggesting the potential as culture matrix for a better representation of *in vivo* cartilage, as an alternative to agarose.

Secondly, we determined the effect of temperature 33 °C (intra-articular), 37 °C (body core), and 39 °C (hyperthermic cartilage) under hypoxic circumstances for monolayer and pellet cultures. A culture temperature between 33 °C and 37 °C under hypoxic circumstances was optimal for chondrocyte culture; positively influencing the chondrocyte-specific genes; cartilage development; and the maintenance of the differentiated phenotype. Lastly, under the same temperature and oxygen conditions, an inflammatory response was triggered by pro-inflammatory cytokine stimulation. The effects of cytokine stimulation were enhanced under hypoxic conditions, resulting in a stress response.

In the future, a reliable platform for chondrocyte culture could be established by combining the Dex/HA hydrogel culture and physiological culture circumstances, this could be applied as a disease model for Osteoarthritis by hyper physiological mechanical and cytokine stimulation.

Keywords: chondrocytes; cartilage-on-chip; hydrogel; mechanical stimulation; temperature and oxygen variations; 2D and 3D models

# Samenvatting

Osteoartritis is een van de meest voorkomende ziektes van het knie kraakbeen, met in 2018 ruim 1,4 miljoen gevallen in Nederland, en leidt tot schade aan het gewichtskraakbeen en verslechterde mobiliteit. Door de unieke structuur en kenmerkende eigenschappen van kraakbeenweefsel is er op dit moment geen geschikt *in vitro* model, wat het onderzoek naar het ziekteverloop en behandelingen belemmert. Belangrijke vereisten voor een dergelijk kraakbeenmodel zijn de lage fysiologische omgevingstemperatuur en zuurstofgehalte en de kweek in een dynamische driedimensionale omgeving met de mogelijkheid voor zowel mechanische en biochemische stimulatie. Het doel van dit project was om een *in vitro* model te realiseren dat al deze beschreven factoren in acht neemt. Daarvoor is dit project onderverdeeld in twee secties: eerst een hydrogel studie voor een dynamisch kraakbeen-op-chip platform, en vervolgens een studie betreffende de fysiologische kweekomstandigheden.

Huidige protocollen gebruiken agarose als kweekmatrix voor kraakbeen, maar deze gel kent een aantal tekortkomingen, zoals het gebrek aan cel aanhechtingen en mogelijkheid tot proliferatie. Daarom is het gebruik van een Dex-TA/HA-TA hydrogel getest onder dynamische kweekomstandigheden, wat resulteerde in behoud van het chondrogene fenotype, cel mobiliteit en verhoogde productie van degradatie factoren, waardoor het gebruik van deze hydrogel als kweekmatrix een betere representatie van *in vivo* kraakbeen kan bieden.

In het tweede deel van dit project is het effect van kweektemperatuur, 33 °C (intra-articulair), 37 °C (lichaamskern), en 39 °C (hyper thermisch), onder lage zuurstof omstandigheden (2,5 %  $O_2$ ) bepaald voor zowel twee als driedimensionale chondrocyt kweek. Een temperatuur tussen 33 °C en 37 °C onder lage zuurstof omstandigheden was het meest optimaal, met een positief effect op kraakbeen-specifieke genen, kraakbeen ontwikkeling en het behoud van het gedifferentieerde fenotype. Tenslotte is onder dezelfde fysiologische kweekomstandigheden een ontstekingsrespons getriggerd door stimulatie met pro-inflammatoire cytokines, welke werd versterkt onder hypoxie kweek, resulterende in een stress reactie.

Een verbeterd kweekplatform voor chondrocyten kan in de toekomst bereikt worden door de hydrogel kweek te combineren met fysiologische kweekomstandigheden en deze te gebruiken als ziektemodel voor osteoartritis door stimulatie met hyper fysiologische mechanische stimulatie en cytokines.

Kernwoorden: chondrocyten; kraakbeen-op-chip; hydrogel; mechanische stimulatie; temperatuur en zuurstof variaties; 2D en 3D modellen

# Contents

Acknowledgements	1
Abstract	2
Samenvatting	3
List of Abbreviations	7
1. Introduction	8
1.1. Articular Cartilage	8
<ul> <li>1.1.1. Knee joint</li> <li>1.1.2. Cartilage tissue</li> <li>1.1.3. Chondrocytes</li> <li>1.1.4. Joint movement and loading</li> <li>1.1.5. Cartilage disorders</li> <li>1.2. Models for cartilage culture</li> </ul>	8 9 10 10 12
<ul> <li>1.2.1. Three-dimensional culture</li> <li>1.2.2. Temperature levels</li></ul>	12 13 14 14 15
1.3.1. Cartilage-on-chip design         2. Aim and objectives	15 16
2.1. Aim	16
2.2. Objectives	17
2.3. Research design	17
3. Materials & Methods: Hydrogel testing	19
3.1. Microfluidic device fabrication	19
<ul> <li>3.1.1. Mold fabrication</li></ul>	19 19 20 20
3.3. Cartilage-on-chip culture	21
<ul><li>3.3.1. Cell-hydrogel culture</li></ul>	21 22 22
4. Materials & Methods: Culture conditions	23
4.1. Mold fabrication and pellet formation	23
4.2. Monolayer experiments	24
4.3. Experimental set-up	24
5. Analysis methods	24
<ul> <li>5.1.1. Hydrogel characterization</li></ul>	24 25 25 25

5.1.5. MMP activity assay	
5.1.6. Gene expression	
5.1.7. Immunofluorescence staining	
6 Results: Hydrogel testing	
6.1. Hydrogel characterization	
6.1.1. Scanning electron microscopy	28
6.1.2. Degradation	
6.1.3. Deformation	
6.1.4. Beads migration	
6.2. Cell-hydrogel culture	
6.2.1. Bright-field imaging	
6.2.3 Cell displacement	
6.2.4. Cell migration	
6.2.5. Surface plasmon resonance	
6.2.6. MMP activity	
6.2.7. Gene expression	
7.1.2 Pellet culture	
7.1.2. Tenet culture	
7.1.4. Gene expression: Monolayer versus pellets	45
9 Discussion	53
8. Discussion	
8. Discussion	
8. Discussion	
8. Discussion Hydrogel Hydrogel degradation Mechanical stimulation capacities	
8. Discussion Hydrogel Hydrogel degradation Mechanical stimulation capacities Cell movement Cell behavior	
<ul> <li>8. Discussion</li> <li>Hydrogel</li> <li>Hydrogel degradation</li> <li>Mechanical stimulation capacities</li> <li>Cell movement</li> <li>Cell behavior</li> <li>Influence of oxygen and temperature on chondrocyte culture</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>8. Discussion</li> <li>Hydrogel</li> <li>Hydrogel degradation</li> <li>Mechanical stimulation capacities</li> <li>Cell movement</li> <li>Cell behavior</li> <li>Influence of oxygen and temperature on chondrocyte culture</li> <li>Hypoxia effects</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>8. Discussion</li> <li>Hydrogel</li> <li>Hydrogel degradation</li> <li>Mechanical stimulation capacities</li> <li>Cell movement</li> <li>Cell behavior</li> <li>Influence of oxygen and temperature on chondrocyte culture</li> <li>Hypoxia effects</li> <li>Temperature effects</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>8. Discussion</li> <li>Hydrogel</li> <li>Hydrogel degradation</li> <li>Mechanical stimulation capacities</li> <li>Cell movement</li> <li>Cell behavior</li> <li>Influence of oxygen and temperature on chondrocyte culture</li> <li>Hypoxia effects</li> <li>Temperature effects</li> <li>Cytokine effects</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>8. Discussion</li></ul>	
<ul> <li>8. Discussion</li> <li>Hydrogel</li> <li>Hydrogel degradation</li> <li>Mechanical stimulation capacities</li> <li>Cell movement</li> <li>Cell behavior</li> <li>Influence of oxygen and temperature on chondrocyte culture</li> <li>Hypoxia effects</li> <li>Temperature effects</li> <li>Cytokine effects</li> <li>Monolayer culture</li> <li>9 Conclusion</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>8. Discussion</li> <li>Hydrogel</li> <li>Hydrogel degradation</li> <li>Mechanical stimulation capacities</li> <li>Cell movement</li> <li>Cell behavior</li> <li>Influence of oxygen and temperature on chondrocyte culture</li> <li>Hypoxia effects</li> <li>Temperature effects</li> <li>Cytokine effects</li> <li>Monolayer culture</li> <li>9. Conclusion.</li> <li>10. Future perspectives</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>8. Discussion</li> <li>Hydrogel</li> <li>Hydrogel degradation</li> <li>Mechanical stimulation capacities</li> <li>Cell movement</li> <li>Cell behavior</li> <li>Influence of oxygen and temperature on chondrocyte culture</li> <li>Hypoxia effects</li> <li>Temperature effects</li> <li>Cytokine effects</li> <li>Pellet culture</li> <li>9. Conclusion</li> <li>10. Future perspectives</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>a. Discussion</li> <li>Hydrogel</li> <li>Hydrogel degradation</li></ul>	53 53 53 53 53 54 55 56 56 56 56 56 57 58 59 60 60 62 62 70
<ul> <li>a. Discussion</li> <li>Hydrogel</li> <li>Hydrogel degradation</li> <li>Mechanical stimulation capacities</li> <li>Cell movement</li> <li>Cell behavior</li> <li>Influence of oxygen and temperature on chondrocyte culture</li> <li>Hypoxia effects</li> <li>Temperature effects</li> <li>Cytokine effects</li> <li>Monolayer culture</li> <li>Pellet culture</li> <li>9. Conclusion</li> <li>10. Future perspectives</li> <li>11. References</li> <li>12. Appendix</li> <li>12. 1. Medium composition</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>a. Discussion</li> <li>Hydrogel</li> <li>Hydrogel degradation</li> <li>Mechanical stimulation capacities</li> <li>Cell movement</li> <li>Cell behavior</li> <li>Influence of oxygen and temperature on chondrocyte culture</li> <li>Hypoxia effects</li> <li>Temperature effects</li> <li>Cytokine effects</li> <li>Monolayer culture</li> <li>Pellet culture</li> <li>9. Conclusion</li> <li>10. Future perspectives</li> <li>11. References</li> <li>12. Appendix</li> <li>12. Primer sequences for qPCR</li> </ul>	53 53 53 53 54 55 56 56 56 56 57 58 59 59 60 60 62 60 62 70 70
<ul> <li>8. Discussion</li> <li>Hydrogel</li> <li>Hydrogel degradation</li> <li>Mechanical stimulation capacities</li> <li>Cell movement</li> <li>Cell behavior</li> <li>Influence of oxygen and temperature on chondrocyte culture</li> <li>Hypoxia effects</li> <li>Temperature effects</li> <li>Cytokine effects</li> <li>Cytokine effects</li> <li>Monolayer culture</li> <li>Pellet culture</li> <li>9. Conclusion</li> <li>10. Future perspectives</li> <li>11. References</li> <li>12. Appendix</li> <li>12.1. Medium composition</li></ul>	53 53 53 53 53 54 55 56 56 56 56 57 58 59 60 60 60 62 70 70 70 71
<ul> <li>B. Discussion</li> <li>Hydrogel</li> <li>Hydrogel degradation</li></ul>	53 $53$ $53$ $53$ $53$ $54$ $55$ $56$ $56$ $56$ $57$ $58$ $59$ $59$ $60$ $60$ $60$ $60$ $62$ $70$ $70$ $70$ $70$ $70$ $71$
<ul> <li>B. Discussion</li> <li>Hydrogel</li> <li>Hydrogel degradation.</li> <li>Mechanical stimulation capacities</li> <li>Cell movement.</li> <li>Cell behavior</li> <li>Influence of oxygen and temperature on chondrocyte culture</li> <li>Hypoxia effects</li> <li>Temperature effects.</li> <li>Cytokine effects.</li> <li>Cytokine effects</li> <li>Monolayer culture</li> <li>Pellet culture</li> <li>9. Conclusion.</li> <li>10. Future perspectives.</li> <li>11. References</li> <li>12. Appendix</li> <li>12.1. Medium composition</li> <li>12.2. Primer sequences for qPCR.</li> <li>12.3. Requirements chondrocyte <i>in vitro</i> model.</li> <li>12.4. Additional data: Hydrogel testing</li> <li>12.4.1. SEM images</li> </ul>	53 $53$ $53$ $53$ $54$ $54$ $55$ $56$ $56$ $56$ $57$ $58$ $59$ $59$ $60$ $60$ $60$ $60$ $60$ $70$ $70$ $70$ $70$ $70$ $71$ $71$ $71$

12.4.3. Hydrogel characterization	
12.4.4. Hydrogel deformation without PD	
12.4.5. Hydrogel viability without PD	
12.4.6. Cell deformation	
12.4.7. Statistical analysis qPCR	
12.4.8. Droplet culture	
12.5. Additional data: Culture conditions	
12.5.1. Bright-field imaging monolayer culture	
12.5.2. Immunofluorescence staining	77
12.5.3. Viability	
12.5.4. Bright-field imaging pellets	
12.5.5. Metabolic activity	
12.5.6. Gene expression – Raw CT values	
12.5.7. Gene expression	
▲	

# List of Abbreviations

40			
2D 2D	Three dimensional		
	Aggecan		
ACAN	A disintegrin and metalloproteinase with thromhospondin motifs		
	A scorbic acid 2-phosphate		
ASAP	Ascorbic acid 2-phosphale		
BSA	Bovine serum albumin		
CDNA	Complementary deoxyribonucleic acid		
CDM	Chondrogenic Differentiation Medium		
Col	Collagen		
Comp.	Compression stimulated		
COMP	Cartilage Oligomeric Matrix Protein		
CPM	Chondrogenic Proliferation Medium		
СТ	Cycle threshold		
Dex-TA	Dextran-Tyramine		
Dex/HA	Dextran-Tyramine/Hyaluronic acid-Tyramine		
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium		
DMSO	Dimethyl Sulfoxide		
GAG	Glycosaminoglycan		
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase		
H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub>	Hydrogen peroxide		
НА	Hyaluronic acid		
НА-ТА	Hyaluronic acid-Tyramine		
HIF-1a	Hypoxia-inducible factor 1-alpha		
HK2	Hexokinase 2		
HRP	Horse radish peroxidase		
HSP	Heat shock protein		
IGF	Insulin-like growth factor		
IL	Interleukin		
MMP	Metalloproteinases		
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid		
OA	Osteoarthritis		
PBS	Phosphate Buffered Saline		
PKM2	Pyruvate kinase isozymes		
PD	Polydopamine		
PDMS	Polydimethylsiloxane		
RNA	Ribonucleic acid		
RT	Room temperature		
SOX9	SRY-Box transcription factor 9		
TA	Tyramine		
TGF-B	Transforming growth factor-beta		
$TNF-\alpha$	Tumor necrosis factor-alpha		
aPCR	Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction		
	Quantitative real-time porymerase chain reaction		

## 1. Introduction

## 1.1. Articular Cartilage

#### 1.1.1. Knee joint

The joints of the human body connect two or more bones and allow stability and movement of the skeleton. Among the articular joints, the knee is the largest and the most studied due to its importance in the leg movement. [1] The knee is a primary weight- and load-bearing mobile joint, since it carries the mass of our body, and handles load during movement. [2] During movement, the load generated is transferred from the bone to the articular cartilage. [3] Articular cartilage on the surface of the bones prevents grinding and rupture of the bones, to enable withstanding of loading cycles without tissue damage. [2] Moreover, ligaments and the joint capsule provide stability during motion, giving strength and preventing excess or abnormal movements (**Figure 1**). [1][4] Within the joint capsule, the synovial membrane, also called synovium, is located. This connective tissue secretes synovial fluid, containing nutrients for the articular cartilage, and further reduces the friction generated during movement. [2][5]



*Figure 1.* Schematic representation of the knee joint. The bones are covered with articular cartilage, which are in contact within the joint cavity filled with synovial fluid. Created with BioRender.com.

#### 1.1.2. Cartilage tissue

Within the articulating knee joint, the friction between bones is prevented by a layer of 2 to 4 mm thickness hyaline cartilage. [5] Healthy cartilage can withstand many loads without degradation or failure and is able to support and transfer load, allowing smooth movement of the bones against each other. [3][5] Articular cartilage is mainly composed of extracellular matrix (ECM) filled with chondrocytes. In healthy cartilage, 65 - 80% of the total ECM weight consists of tissue fluid, which is composed of water with inorganic ions. The solid ECM is responsible for support of single and rapid movements. Its unique properties are due to the characterized structure and subdivision in zones (**Figure 2**). [3][5] The division into superficial, middle, deep, and calcified zones vary in biochemical composition, function, and biomechanical properties.



*Figure 2.* Schematic representation of human articular cartilage. Orientation of chondrocytes and Collagen fibers are shown for the superficial, transitional and deep zone. Created with BioRender.com.

Cartilage tissue does not present any nerve and blood vessels. Therefore nutrients are provided by two pathways; diffusion from the bone vessels and diffusion from the synovial fluid. [6] The synovial fluid, containing multiple proteins, provide nutrients through the articular surface to the chondrocytes within the superficial and middle zone. However, only a part of the chondrocytes are provided with nutrients, resulting in a nutrient gradient within the cartilage tissue. During movement, the synovial fluid can reach the bone zone and thereby increase the diffusion of nutrients. [3] Beside the nutrients and waste transportation and the reduction of friction between bones, the synovial fluid is also an important contributor to joint homeostasis. [2][5] The cells located inside the synovium, the synovicytes, produce albumin and hyaluronic acid (HA), which give the fluid its viscosity and slickness. [7] The viscosity plays an important role in shock absorption and increases due to applied pressure. The reduction of frictional forces is due to the presence of lubricin on the articular surface, which is an important protein for joint lubrication. [2]

Collagen represents 60% of the dry weight of cartilage and forms a fibrous framework that enables shear stress resistance and ECM protection. [5] Collagen type II accounts for over 90% of the collagens within adult articular cartilage. [8] Its synthesis is highest during skeletal growth, and drops thereafter. This major Collagen type crosslinks with type IX and XI to form the fundamental framework of cartilage ECM. The crosslinking and orientation determines the tissue strength.

Proteoglycans, including Aggrecan and fibromodulin, are proteins that are intertwined within the Collagen network. [3] They are synthesized, maintained and secreted into the ECM by chondrocytes and are important for cartilage homeostasis. The proteoglycan metabolism is regulated by a number of growth factors, such as transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ). [3] Furthermore, proteoglycans can form highly hydrated aggregates that provide resistance to compressive loads, due to their negative charge, a swelling pressure occurs. When no external loads are applied on the tissue, the swelling pressure is kept in balance by stresses generated in the cartilage matrix, which are called pre-stresses. The pre-stress and swelling pressure contribute to the mechanical properties of cartilage tissue. [9][10] It is found that over years, the proteoglycan aggregates get smaller due to a decrease in available binding sites. [3][11] This results in a lower hydration of the cartilage ECM, resulting in an increase of compressive stiffness and less force withstanding. [12]

#### 1.1.3. Chondrocytes

Chondrocytes are the cellular constituent of cartilage, they include only 1 - 2% of the total tissue volume. Chondrocytes play a key role in the regulation of ECM synthesis and homeostasis in order to maintain cartilage architecture, composition, and functionality. [5] They monitor the synthesis of components, such as Collagen, glycoproteins, hyaluronic acid, and proteoglycans to keep a physiological balance of the ECM. Chondrocytes maintain a spheroid shape *in vivo*, while being surrounded by a proteoglycan rich precellular matrix. [13] Further, chondrocytes are mainly depended on the anerobic metabolism and they obtain their nutrition via diffusion from the synovial fluid. [3] After cartilage damage, an imbalance in their homeostasis can occur, and the chondrocytes retain only a limited capacity for self-repair and recapitulation of Collagen synthesis. [9][14] Beside this, the chondrocyte stay the same, but their organization and functionality changes. A decrease in ability to maintain and repair the tissue and a decreased responsiveness to growth factors, results in softening of the tissue and loss of matrix strength and stiffness. [15]

In the human body, chondrocytes are able to move through the cartilage tissue. They show controlled and regulated movements during growth and tissue remodeling, despite the high density and pressure of cartilage matrix. [13] The exact underlying mechanisms of cell motility are unknown, but may be initiated by the presence of chondroprogenitor cells. [16] Movement may also be due to active migration as response to motility cues, weakening of the attachment to the cartilage matrix, or grip-and-pull operation on Collagen fibers by the use of their contractile cell skeleton. [13] Migrating chondrocytes do express chondrogenic-specific genes (e.g. Collagen II), indicating that they maintain their differentiated status. [17]

#### 1.1.4. Joint movement and loading

Motion of the knee results mainly in compression and shear forces on the cartilage tissue, which is withstand by the unique viscoelastic properties of cartilage. The modulus of cartilage depends on the tissue depth and orientation of the tissue. [5] The superficial zone of cartilage contains mainly Collagen fibers that are aligned parallel to the surface, making them functional for sustaining induced shear stresses. Within the middle zone and deep zone, the Collagen fibers are perpendicular organized and therefore offer protection to compression forces. [3][18]

The interaction between the fluid and solid phases of the ECM is important for the mechanical functionality and thereby its deformation characteristics. [5] Within the superficial layers, the fluid content is high, which mainly consists of water and inorganic ions. The porous and permeable ECM is considered as solid phase. Single and fast loading causes an increase in fluid pressure, whereby the fluid is squeezed out of the tissue. During repetitive loading cycles, almost all fluid flows out of the tissue, and the ECM provides resistance to the load. Thereafter, during rest, the fluid is reabsorbed by the ECM. [3][12]

Healthy articular cartilage is maintained by joint motion and load, and research has shown that during low intensity movement the production of ECM is stimulated. In contrast, high loading movements can inhibit the mechanism of ECM synthesis and can even result in tissue degradation. But on the other hand, due to long lasting periods of inactivity, the chondrocytes can become senescence and their responsiveness to growth factor decreases, resulting in altered proteoglycan synthesis and cartilage degradation as well. [3][19][20]

#### 1.1.5. Cartilage disorders

Cartilage can be affected by several injuries and diseases, resulting in degradation and less mobility. Arthritis is the collective name for disorders that affect the joints. Common symptoms are joint, inflammation, stiffness, swelling, and a decreased range of motion of the affected joints. There are over 100 types of arthritis, with Osteoarthritis (OA) as most common type. [21]

#### Osteoarthritis

In 2018, more than 1,4 million patients in the Netherlands were diagnosed with the degenerative disease Osteoarthritis (OA), of which almost 700.000 affects the knee joint. Since OA mostly affects the elderly, the annual prevalence is expected to increase with 41% in 2040 due to the aging population. [22] The exact mechanism of OA development remains unclear, but biomechanical, anatomic, and functional factors play an important role and risk factors include age, gender, former injuries, trauma and obesity. [23] Due to the slow, but progressive degeneration of the articular tissue, it highly influences the quality of life. [7][23] Cartilage tissue in OA follows a myriad of cascades, only the ones that are most relevant for this project will be appointed in this section.

The cartilage homeostasis, which is regulated by the interplay between mechanical, inflammatory, and biochemical factors, gets imbalanced during OA. [23] The metabolic imbalance results in the breakdown of the fibrillar network, which highly affects the superficial zone of the tissue (**Figure 3**). [24] When cartilage is damaged in healthy tissue, chondrocytes secrete new ECM components, such as Collagen type II and proteoglycans, to repair the damage. However, during OA, chondrocytes undergo phenotypic alterations into a hypertrophic phenotype and thereby produce higher levels of proteolytic enzymes, Collagen type III and X. [25] Hypertrophic cells are considered the end state of the chondrocyte differentiation pathway and stimulate cartilage degradation and the expression of proteolytic enzymes. Furthermore, inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, and other inflammatory mediators are produced, resulting in disruption of the cartilage homeostasis. Because the turnover rates of proteoglycans and collagens are not in balance and tissue degeneration is faster than the regeneration process, this results in loss of cartilaginous tissue over time. [11][19][23]

OA is involved in the entire joint, and also alters the calcified cartilage which is present below the articular hyaline cartilage. In a healthy joint, cartilage is separated from the calcified layer and the underlying subchondral bone by the tidemark. During OA, loss of the network results in the development of fissures in the cartilage tissue, leading to exposure to the calcified cartilage and subchondral bone. [26] Hereby, calcification of the deepest zone occurs by the expansion of calcified cartilage into the articular cartilage and remodeling of the subchondral bone. The subchondral bone increases in volume, but becomes weaker than healthy bone. In addition, osteophytes and bone cysts are developed at the joint margin, contributing to the generation of pain in disease. [27]



Figure 3. Schematic representation of Osteoarthritis diseased tissue. Orientation of chondrocytes and Collagen fibers are shown for the superficial, transitional and deep zone. Created with BioRender.com.

The metabolic activity of chondrocytes is altered by pro-inflammatory cytokines, including interleukin-1 $\beta$  (IL-1 $\beta$ ), interleukin-6 (IL-6) and tumor necrosis factor– $\alpha$  (TNF– $\alpha$ ), resulting in a metabolic imbalance. The cytokines have catabolic effects, resulting in cartilage degradation and chondrocyte dedifferentiation. [3][11][28] Moreover, the synthesis of matrix degrading enzymes is stimulated, e.g. the Collagenases metalloproteinases (MMPs) and A disintegrin and metalloproteinase with thrombospondin motifs (ADAMTSs). [23] ADAMTSs are responsible for Aggrecan and proteoglycan breakage, resulting in a decrease in matrix hydration and thereby an increase in cartilage compressive stiffness, which accelerates the rate of Collagen loss. [29][30] MMP-1, MMP-3, MMP-9 are mainly involved in the breakdown of collagens and other extracellular molecules. MMP-13 is the major catabolic effector of cartilage degradation in OA, and mainly responsible for Collagen II degradation. [31][32] Furthermore, by elevated MMP expression, the synthesis of new ECM components, and thereby the restorage of degraded matrix, is blocked. Progressive loss of collagens and proteoglycans in combination with the disturbance of their normal production results in cartilage degradation and chondrocyte death. [53]

#### **Treatment of Osteoarthritis**

Due to the lack of vascularization of the tissue, cartilage has only a limited ability to self-repair and treatment options are important. In early-stages, cure options are mainly focused on pain reducing and reducing the degradation speed. Other options include analgesic and antiinflammatory medicines, injection of steroid hormones, physiotherapy, or viscosupplementation. [7] Joint functionality may be applied in advanced stages, whereby the joint functionality is restored by a surgical procedure. Arthroplasty includes the resurfacing of bones or the use of an artificial joint. Currently, no options are available to stop or reverse the process of OA, mainly due to the absence of a proper platform for drug studies. [11]

## 1.2. Models for cartilage culture

A model for disease and drug studies requires to mimic the native cartilage with its specific structure, physiological conditions, and dynamic environment. [33] Hence, different parameters, including the 3D architecture, temperature levels, oxygen tension, and the ability to apply mechanical and biochemical stimulation, were considered in this project.

#### 1.2.1. Three-dimensional culture

Simplified models, consisting of a monolayer of cells, have the disadvantages of alteration in genetic profile and phenotype, due to cell adhesion and dedifferentiation, and are therefore an unsuitable representation of the native environment. During passing, the chondrogenic phenotype is not supported and monolayer cultured chondrocytes express less Collagen type II and less large proteoglycans with respect to 3D culture.

When cultured in 3D, for example using a hydrogel, aggregate or pellet culture, the cell-cell interactions are increased, resulting in a higher chondrogenic potential. [34][35] However, chondrocyte aggregates are not complex enough and are not suitable for applying mechanical stimuli. Further, 3D models containing a controllable and mechanical stable synthetic scaffold do not allow appropriate cell adhesion. Natural scaffolds are highly of interest due to their biocompatibility, but are limited by fabrication and mechanical properties. [36] The choice of hydrogel is important since it highly influences cellular behavior and differentiation capacities. [33] Current 3D protocols rely on the use of agarose 2% hydrogel in combination with human chondrocytes. Agarose, although widely used, presents some drawbacks. Hence, a new hydrogel composed of hyaluronic acid-tyramine (HA-TA) and dextran-tyramine conjugates (Dex-TA), Dex/HA in short, was investigated and compared to the current gold standard.

#### Agarose

The natural biomaterial agarose (**Figure 4**) is a biocompatible hydrogel, that facilitates cell survival and promotes the maintenance of cell morphology and phenotype *in vitro*. [37][38][39][40] Agarose allows regeneration of cartilage tissue and promotes the synthesis of the extracellular matrix, including the deposition of Collagen type VI and the synthesis of proteoglycan-Collagen constructs. [41][42]



*Figure 4.* A) *SEM image of Agarose 2% hydrogel at 20 °C performed by Tuvikene et al.* [44], *scalebar: 1 \mum. B) Structure of UltraPure Agarose (ThermoFisher Scientific).* 

Agarose is suitable for dynamic culture, resulting in high viability levels for cells cultured within static and mechanical stimulated conditions. [33] However, chondrocytes do not proliferate when cultured in agarose and they cannot attach to the hydrogel. Further, the structure agarose is highly different when compared to native cartilage ECM. [37][43]

#### **Dex-HA/HA-TA hydrogel**

The Dex-HA/HA-TA hydrogel (Dex/HA) was developed by the Developmental BioEngineering (DBE) group at the University of Twente. The hybrid hydrogel consists of tyramine-substituted dextran (Dex-TA) and hyaluronic acid (HA-TA), in 50/50 ratio (**Figure 5**). The combination of both polysaccharides compose a hydrogel which is based on the molecular structure of proteoglycans found in the native cartilage ECM, and is therefore of interest for cartilage research. [45][46][47] The hydrogel was investigated as injectable and tunable hydrogel for cartilage repair, and was already widely investigated for multiple cartilage tissue engineering purposes. [47][48] Chondrocytes cultured within the gel show high viability, proliferation, metabolic activity, and production of matrix proteins. Further, Dex/HA with chondrocytes incorporated stimulated the regeneration of cartilage. [47][49] Hydrogels containing naturally occurring HA do have viscoelastic properties, allow good water retention, are highly bioactive by providing cell attachment sites, and are biodegradable in the presence of hyaluronidases. [50][52] Contrarily, Dex-TA is non-degradable, biocompatible and provides long term stability. [51]



**Figure 5.** A) SEM image of Dex/HA 10wt% hydrogel, performed by Malin Becker, scalebar: 50 µm. B) Structure of Dex/HA hydrogel network, obtained from [49].

Dex/HA hydrogel is prepared by an enzymatic crosslinking reaction of the polymer-tyramine conjugates, via the oxidative coupling of the phenol moieties. The enzyme-catalyzed crosslinking is cell-friendly, easy, and efficient. [46][52] The advantages of using enzymatic crosslinking over other techniques, such as Michael-type addition reactions and Ultraviolet crosslinking, are its relatively fast gelation time and the non-cytotoxicity. The reaction is initiated by horseradish peroxidase (HRP) and hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) as oxidant. [47][49] When the enzyme HRP reacts with H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, a tyramine moiety (TA) is oxidized, creating a radical. By reaction between two TA radicals, a network between both polysaccharides is formed. The hydrogels mechanical strength, and thereby the degree of crosslinking, depends on the ratio between H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and TA moieties. The gelation time of Dex/HA 10wt% is below 20 seconds, but can be altered by varying both H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and HRP concentrations. [49]

#### 1.2.2. Temperature levels

Cells are often cultured at 37 °C *in vitro*, since this is assumed to mimic the inner body temperature. However, the temperature of a healthy knee joint is 32,6 °C at rest, and during high intensity movement, the inter-articular temperature can rise up to 38,8 °C. [53] During OA, the articular cartilage loses its resistance to vascularization and blood vessel growth increases. The inflammation drives angiogenesis by macrophage activation, being a critical mechanism in the persistence of OA. [54][55] Inflamed tissue produces warmth by rapid

circulation of the blood in the inflamed part, resulting in an intra-articular temperature of 33,5 °C in OA patients and up to 36,0 °C for rheumatoid arthritis. [56][57][58]

The effects of a hypothermic or hyperthermic culture environment on chondrocytes was already investigated in earlier research. Kaplan et al. showed a decrease in metabolic activity of chondrocytes cultured at high temperature levels, and established an optimal temperature for cartilage ECM production between 32 °C and 37 °C. [27] Flour et al. found comparable chondrocyte proliferation rates for 37 °C and 40 °C culture, but noticed an increase in protein content and cell volume at these temperatures. [59] At high and lowered temperatures, heat shock proteins (HSPs) are produced by the chondrocytes. HSPs are chondroprotective to human chondrocytes, by protecting and aiding the protein folding and enhance the metabolic activity. [60][61] The effects of a thermal environment on chondrocyte culture *in vitro* was investigated by Ito et al., showing an increase in cell proliferation at 37 °C, while culturing at 31 °C resulted in a reduced cell growth and metabolism. [30] A hyperthermic condition of 42 °C resulted in upregulation of Collagen I, Collagen II, Sox9 and destructive enzymes. But, culturing at temperatures above 40 °C can result in appropriate protein folding, and when cultured at 43 °C, the cell cycle was arrested, resulting in cell death. [62]

#### 1.2.3. Oxygen tension levels

Human chondrocytes are able to survive in a physiologically hypoxic environment, due to the avascularity of cartilage. The concentration of oxygen (O<sub>2</sub>) is approximately 6% in the superficial layer and only 1% in the calcified layer (**Figure 6**). The oxygen gradient declines even more in OA tissue, and since oxygen tension modulates cell behavior and phenotype, there is a need to understand the exact response under different oxygen tensions. [63] Hypoxia (2,5% O<sub>2</sub>) positively influences chondrocyte phenotype and ECM synthesis *in vitro*. [64][63] Studies have shown that hypoxic conditions results in enhanced cartilage formation during differentiation and stimulates biosynthetic activity, with an increase in Collagen type II, SOX9, and Aggrecan. [65][66][67][68] Hypoxia inducible factor-1alpha (HIF-1 $\alpha$ ) regulates the anabolic behavior of chondrocytes in a hypoxic environment, for example by the production of chondrocytes. [60][69]



*Figure 6.* Schematic representation of human articular cartilage with corresponding oxygen levels. Created with Biorender.com.

#### 1.2.4. Dynamic culture environment

Since chondrocytes are used to grow in a dynamic environment, a culture system that enables to mimic comparable dynamics is required. The micromechanical environment has a positive effect on chondrocyte growth, differentiation, and the metabolism of the ECM. Physiologic levels of loading have anabolic and anti-inflammatory effects, stimulating the synthesis of ECM components. [70] Hyper-physiological conditions can result in catabolic and pro-inflammatory effects, and in contrast, long lasting periods of inactivity negatively affects the metabolic activity and result in a decreased ECM production. [20][71]

Further, to create a proper cartilage model to study the movement kinetics, an environment enabling cell movement in 3-dimensions is required. Various *in vitro* models have shown that chondrocytes are able to migrate under different stimuli, including bone morphogenetic factors and multiple growth factors. [17][72][73] Furthermore, research has shown that chondrocytes are able to move *in vitro* towards stimulation of chemoattractants, e.g. hyaluronic acid, fibronectin and Collagen 1. [72][74][75]

## 1.3. Cartilage-on-chip

Current *in vitro* models do not meet all requirements necessary to mimic the native cartilage, including the tissue structure, the physiological conditions, and a dynamic culture environment. A better representation of cartilage tissue was aimed by the development of an organ-on-chip platform. Organ-on-chip devices allow miniaturization of an organ by mimicking the microenvironment, mechanics, and physiological conditions of a tissue. Multiple parameters can be easily controlled, such as supply of fluid containing chemical or nutrients. [33]

A cartilage-on-chip was developed by the Applied Microfluidics for BioEngineering Research (AMBER) and Developmental BioEngineering (DBE) departments at the University of Twente, to study both healthy and diseased cartilage conditions. The inclusion of the cartilage structure, nutrients transport, and mechanical stimuli were aimed as important factors to mimic native cartilage tissue. The system enables mimicking of mechanical stresses similar to articular movement, which allow both compression and shear stress simultaneously. Stimuli corresponding to healthy physiological and diseased hyper-physiological conditions can be reproduced. [33]

#### 1.3.1. Cartilage-on-chip design

The microfluidic platform is made of non-toxic silicone-based polymer Polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS). The 254  $\mu$ m thick chip consists of a mechanical stimulation section with 3 actuation chambers, a cell-hydrogel chamber, and a perfusion channel (**Figure 7**). The mechanical stimulation chamber is separated from the hydrogel and cells by a thin elastic membrane (50  $\mu$ m thickness).



*Figure 7.* Cartilage-on-chip design, containing a mechanical stimulation section with 3 actuation chambers, PDMS membrane, cell-hydrogel chamber, pillars, and perfusion channel. Device design provided by C.A. Paggi. Scalebar:  $500 \mu m$ .

The mechanical stimulation section is connected to a pressure and vacuum pump. By applying a pressure, the PDMS membrane deforms towards the cell-hydrogel section. Applying a vacuum causes negative deformation, resulting in membrane deformation towards the mechanical stimulation chamber. The microfluidic device can exert compression only or shear forces, by altering the applied pressure or vacuum subsequently to the single chambers (**Figure 8**). The mechanical stimulation generates gradients of gel deformation and cell deformation, and thereby mimic the healthy cartilage during knee articulation. Diseased knee cartilage can be mimicked by applying hyper-physiological compression, resulting in rupture of the cell

membrane and suggested cell death. [33] This project focuses on application of healthy mechanical compression levels.

Hydrogel containing chondrocytes can be injected into the cell-hydrogel section. This section is separated from the perfusion channel by a line of PDMS pillars ( $100 \times 100 \text{ or } 150 \times 150 \mu m$ ), to prevent diffusion of the injected hydrogel into the perfusion channel.



**Figure 8.** Cartilage-on-chip device with 3 actuation chambers in static condition (A) and in compressed condition (B). Images provided by C.A. Paggi. Scalebars: 500 µm.

# 2. Aim and objectives

## 2.1. Aim

The aim of this project is to improve chondrocyte culture *in vitro*. The project proceeds in two independent steps, which were handled separately in the results and discussion section. For the first part of the project, a cartilage-on-chip platform is used to mimic the dynamic joint culture. The use of Dextran-Tyramine Hyaluronic Acid-Tyramine hydrogel (Dex/HA) for this cartilage platform will be evaluated. This hydrogel was aimed to closely mimic the composition and structure of articular cartilage ECM. The chondrocyte viability, morphology, behavior, and functionality will be assessed and compared to the currently used agarose hydrogel (**Figure 9**).



*Figure 9. The Dex/HA hydrogel (A) was proposed as alternative for the currently used agarose hydrogel (B) as matrix for chondrocyte culture (C) within the cartilage-on-chip device (D). Created with BioRender.com.* 

Secondly, the effects of temperature and oxygen on monolayer culture were determined to improve the general conditions for healthy chondrocyte culture. A 3D pellet culture was proposed to further improve the chondrocyte culture and the effects of different temperatures in a hypoxic environment. A diseased condition was induced by application of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$ . The differences in impact on 2D and 3D cultured cells, and the effects of temperature and oxygen on the diseased cells, was determined. The changes in cellular behavior for all conditions was monitored, including their viability, metabolic activity, gene and protein expression (**Figure 10**).



*Figure 10.* The effects of oxygen and temperature culture conditions (A) and cytokine stimulation (B) on both chondrocyte monolayer (C) and pellet (D) culture was examined. Created with BioRender.com.

## 2.2. Objectives

To achieve the above described aims, the following objectives were formulated:

- Improve cartilage-on-chip by chondrocyte culture in Dex/HA hydrogel:
  - Characterize hydrogel and evaluate behavior under mechanical compression
  - Determine chondrocyte viability, morphology, activity, and behavior at microscopical level
  - Determine chondrocyte behavior, protein synthesis, and gene expression at molecular level
- Improve general chondrocyte culture *in vitro*:
  - Determine the effects of temperature and hypoxia on chondrocyte viability, morphology, activity, protein synthesis, and gene expression in a monolayer culture
    - Intra-articular temperature (33 °C) versus body core temperature (37 °C) versus hyperthermic condition (39 °C)
  - Trigger inflammation response in chondrocytes by application of proinflammatory cytokines for the promotion of a diseased condition in monolayer culture
  - Evaluate the effect of pro-inflammatory cytokines under different temperature and hypoxia culture conditions
  - Determine the effects of temperature, oxygen, and cytokine on both monolayer (2D) and pellet (3D) culture systems.

#### 2.3. Research design

The project proceeds in two independent steps, hydrogel testing on-chip and temperature/oxygen culture conditions:

#### Cartilage-on-chip

First experiments were performed to determine if and whether the use of Dex/HA hydrogel for the dynamic cartilage-on-chip platform had advantages with respect to agarose. Thereafter, the chondrocyte morphology, behavior and activity within the gel was evaluated. Important analysis methods included a viability assay, metabolic activity assay, and qPCR for gene expression analysis.

#### Temperature/oxygen conditions

The effects of temperature and oxygen on chondrocyte behavior were determined from a viewpoint of cell viability, metabolic activity, protein production, and gene expression. 33  $^{\circ}$ C was considered as normal intra-articular temperature, 37  $^{\circ}$ C as inter-core temperature and 39

 $^\circ C$  as extreme hyperthermic condition, 2,5%  $O_2$  was approached as physiological oxygen tension.

The pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF– $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  were investigated as inflammatory stimulation for chondrocytes. The interplay between both IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF– $\alpha$  was most effective to induce cartilage degradation in vitro, as described by Zhong et al. [76] Applying both cytokines to human chondrocytes *in vitro* induced cartilage matrix degradation and resorption. [28][77][78] To evaluate the stress induced by the thermal and hypoxia environment, the expression of heat shock proteins (HSPs) was measured. HSPs are responsible for cell protection and recovery and are therefore rapidly produced in a stressful environment, e.g. cytotoxic or pathological conditions, hydrostatic pressure or heat shock. [79] HSPs protect against stresses by increasing the cartilage matrix metabolism and induce pro-inflammatory cytokine production to activate the innate immune system. [80] All experiments were performed in both monolayer and pellet chondrocyte culture systems, to determine the influence of temperature, oxygen, and cytokine.

# 3. Materials & Methods: Hydrogel testing

This section includes the materials and methods followed for hydrogel testing in the cartilageon-chip device, including microfluidic device fabrication, the mechanical stimulation set-up, cell-hydrogel culture, and experimental section.

## 3.1. Microfluidic device fabrication

#### 3.1.1. Mold fabrication

Devices were designed and developed by the Developmental BioEngineering (DBE) and Applied Microfluidics for BioEngineering Research (AMBER) departments at the University of Twente, the Netherlands. Designs were made using Clewin5 software (WieWeb software, The Netherlands) and converted to a quartz photomask using direct-writing lithography. Mask fabrication was described by Paggi et al., [33] according to the following protocol: The mask was used to produce a mold by photolithography on a SU-8 silicon wafer. A 254 um layer of SU-8 100 photoresist (MicroChem, Westborough, USA) was made on the surface of a silicon wafer (Okmetic, Finland) using spin-coating, and baked for 30 minutes. The photomask was used to create a negative mold, by exposing the SU-8 layer to a 365 nm UV light through a photomask. The SU-8 exposed to the UV was photo-polymerized, while the photoresist that was not covered by the photomask did not crosslink. The wafer was post-baked afterwards, and the remaining photoresist was washed away with RER 600 in a sonication system. IPA and isopropanol wash was used for further cleaning.

#### 3.1.2. Cartilage-on-chip fabrication

The organ-on-chip devices were produced using Polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) softlithography. PDMS prepolymer and curing agent (Sylgard 184, Dow Corning, USA) were prepared in weight concentration 20:1 by mixing intensively and degassing for 30 minutes. Prepared PDMS was poured on top of the mold, degassed for 30 minutes, and baked at 60 °C for 24 hours. After baking, the chips were cut out and the feature surface was protected by a layer of tape. 2 reservoirs with a diameter of 2 mm were punched for the cell-hydrogel channel and 1 mm reservoirs were punched for the perfusion channel and mechanical stimuli chamber. PDMS 20:1 empty base chips (4 mm in height) were prepared according to the same protocol. An empty base chip of PDMS and a glass slide were oxidized using plasma treatment (Recipe 2, Cute, Femto Science, South Korea) and bound together. The glass slide with PDMS base and a chip were activated using plasma treatment. Afterwards the feature surface of the device was plasma-bonded on the PDMS base to form the platform (**Figure 11**). The microfluidic device was checked with bright field microscopy to determine the intactness of the membrane and pillars, further baked at 60 °C for 24 hours and stored at room temperature until further use.



Figure 11. Cartilage-on-chip platform, consisting of a glass slide, PDMS base, and PDMS chip with feature surface faced down, obtained from [81].

#### **Polydopamine coating**

A 2 mg/mL solution of Dopamine Hydrochloride (Sigma Life Science) in Tris HCl buffer (10 mM, pH 8,5) was prepared (**Figure 12**). 30  $\mu$ L of PD solution was loaded in the cell-hydrogel section, and incubated at RT for 45 minutes. Afterwards, the channel was washed 3 times with

miliQ water to remove the unbound dopamine molecules and dried overnight at RT. PD treatment was only applied for Dex/HA conditions.



*Figure 12. Schematic overview of polydopamine treatment of PDMS chip. Dopamine structure obtained from* [82], *image created with BioRender.com.* 

#### 3.1.3. Mechanical stimulation set-up

Mechanical stimulation was applied to the microfluidic devices by connection to the mechanical stimulation set-up (**Figure 13**). Fluigent software enabled control of mechanical compression generation and the switching system. A script to control the switching between pressures was written in Fluigent software and the applied pressure was controlled by MAESFLO (Fluigent Software, France). The mechanical compression was established by a nitrogen pump and controlled by the MFCS-EZ pressure controller (Fluigent, France). The Switchboard (Fluigent, France) controlled the switching for the applied pressure. In the 2-Switch system (Fluigent, France), the switching and applied pressure were combined and passed to the mechanical stimulation chamber of the microfluidic device.

An inverted microscope (IX51, Olympus, Japan) with camera (ORCA-flash 4.0 LT, Hamamatsu Photonics, Germany) was used to monitor and image the cartilage-on-chip using HOKAWO imaging software (Hamamatsu Photonics, Germany).



*Figure 13.* Schematic representation of the set-up used for generation of mechanical stimulus for one actuation chamber. Nitrogen course is shown with blue connection, software control with black connections. Created with BioRender.com, images obtained from [83].

## 3.2. Human chondrocyte culture

Human chondrocytes were obtained from a patient undergoing total knee replacement. Cells were stored in liquid nitrogen and before use defrosted at 37 °C. After defrosting, the cells were dropwise added to 9,5 mL chondrogenic proliferation medium (CPM: DMEM supplemented with FBS, Asorbic acid 2-phosphate, non-essential amino acid penicillin, and streptomycin, as

listed in **Appendix 12.1**). The medium containing cells was centrifuged at 300 rpm for 5 minutes to get rid of the solvent dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO). After pelleting, the cells were resuspend in 10 mL CPM, transferred to a T175 Cell Culture Flask, and supplemented with 10 mL CPM. After complete cell attachment, the medium was refreshed every 3 days to stimulate chondrocyte proliferation. Cells were passaged when 80% confluency was reached.

Briefly, medium was removed and the cells were washed with 5 mL PBS. Cells were incubated in 5 mL Trypsin-EDTA (1x, Invitrogen, USA) for 5 minutes at 37 °C. When all cells were detouched from the surface, 5 mL of CPM was added to the flask to stop the trypsinization. The mixture with cells was displaced to a 15 mL tube and the flask was washed one more time with 5 mL CPM. 10 µl was added to a counting chamber, and 4 chambers were counted in duplicate. The total amount of cells was calculated as follows: *Cell concentration* =  $\left(\frac{Cell \ count}{Number \ of \ counted \ quadrants}\right) * 10.000 * DF$ , with DF the dilution factor (15 mL). The dilution ratio was calculated to obtain  $5 \times 10^5$  cells. After centrifuging at 500 rpm for 3 minutes, the cells were resuspended in 10 mL CPM, and transferred to a new T175 Cell Culture Flask. When all cells were attached, the medium was refreshed every 3 days and cells were passaged again when confluent5. All experiments were performed with the same human chondrocytes donor line (D63 Healthy looking), passage 5.

## 3.3. Cartilage-on-chip culture

## 3.3.1. Cell-hydrogel culture

#### Agarose hydrogel

Agarose solution 4wv% was obtained by dissolving 2 gram of low melting point agarose powder (UltraPure Agarose, Invitrogen, USA) in 50 mL of PBS 1x. Dissolving procedure was stimulated by heating in the microwave for 8 seconds time intervals, for approximately 1 minute in total. For further processing, 4wv% agarose solution was diluted in 1:1 ratio with PBS or medium containing cells to obtain a final concentration of 2wv%: Human chondrocytes passage 5 were processed using trypsinization, as described before. The dilution ratio was calculated to obtain  $3x10^6$  cells/mL. After pelleting, the cells were suspended within the calculated amount of CPM and mixed 1:1 with 4wv% agarose hydrogel to obtain a cell concentration of 1.500.000 cells/mL and hydrogel concentration of 2wv%.

#### Dex/HA hydrogel

Dex-TA and HA-TA were synthesized by the DBE department, with degrees of substitution 13 and 10, respectively. Both Dex-HA and HA-TA polymers were dissolved in PBS 1x to obtain 15wt% solutions and stored at -20 °C until further use. 0,15% and 0,3% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> solutions were prepared from 30wt% stock solution (Sigma-Aldrich) in PBS 1x. HRP 10 units/mL was prepared by dissolving in PBS 1x. 5wt% and 10wt% (50/50) hydrogels were prepared under sterile conditions by dilution with medium containing cells. For the hydrogel characterization experiments, the hydrogels were prepared with PBS containing microbeads, instead of CPM containing cells.

Human chondrocytes passage 5 were processed using trypsinization, as described before. The dilution ratio was calculated to obtain  $2,5x10^6$  cells/mL. After pelleting, the cells were suspended within the calculated amount of CPM. Both polymer components were first mixed together and vortexed to obtain a homogeneous mixture. The polymer mixture was combined with medium containing cells. Lastly, HRP and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> were added to the mixture, in 1:10 ratio. Final composition for both hydrogel concentrations can be found in **Table 1**. The mixture was mixed well by pipetting up and down before injection in the microfluidic device.

	15wt% Dex-TA	15wt% HA-TA	Cells in CPM	CPM	HRP	H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub>
5wt%	30 µL	30 µL	128 μL	52 µL	30 µL	30 µL (0,15%)
10wt%	43 µL	43 µL	128 μL	0 μL	43 µL	43 µL (0,30%)

**Table 1.** Composition of 5wt% and 10wt% Dex/HA hydrogels for a total volume of 300  $\mu$ l. Polymer mixture was prepared first, afterwards medium containing cells was added, and lastly, HRP and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> were added.

#### **Cell-hydrogel injection**

 $50 \ \mu L$  of the cell-hydrogel mixture was gently injected within the cell-hydrogel reservoir of the organ-on-chip device.  $100 \ \mu L$  of CPM was added to the perfusion channel and additional on the surface of the microfluidic system to prevent dehydration. The devices were positioned in a petri dish and closed with Parafilm to prevent evaporation and placed in a humified incubator containing 20% O<sub>2</sub> and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> at 37 °C.

#### **Culture medium**

At day 1, the medium of the devices was replaced to chondrogenic differentiation medium (CDM: DMEM supplemented with pen/strep, ITS, L-Proline, ASAP, Sodium Pyruvate, Dexamethasone, and transforming growth factor  $\beta$ , listed in **Appendix 12.1**) and refreshed daily. Since chondrocytes cultured in 2D often dedifferentiate, their redifferentiation is initiated by using medium containing Dexamethasone, and transforming growth factor  $\beta$ .

#### 3.3.2. Mechanical stimulation

Compressive stimulation was applied to the organ-on-chip, using the set-up described in section 3.1.3. The physiological strain of healthy dynamic knee cartilage was mimicked by applying 350 mbar with a frequency of 1 Hz, for 60 minutes. [33] Devices with no pressure applied were considered as static culture and kept as negative control.

## 3.4. Experimental set-up cartilage-on-chip experiments

Dex/HA hydrogel as alternative for agarose was evaluated for the cartilage-on-chip platform. Firstly, the characterization of the hydrogels is described. Hydrogel structures were studied using scanning electron microscopy and the crosslinking and degradation of Dex/HA hydrogel was determined. Lastly, the deformation capacities of the hydrogel and the movement of microbeads under mechanical stimulation was investigated.

Next, multiple experiments were performed to evaluate the short- and long term behavior of human chondrocytes within the multiple hydrogels. First experiments were performed for a period of 11 days (**Figure 14**). Hydrogel containing human chondrocytes were seeded in the devices at day 0 and mechanical stimulation was applied on day 1 - 4 and day 7 - 11, for 60 minutes per day. Medium (CDM) was refreshed daily and stored on day 5 and day 11 for MMP activity and SPR analysis. Samples were analyzed using bright-field imaging, viability staining and qPCR. Static conditions were handled following the same protocol.



*Figure 14.* Long term cartilage-on-chip experiments. Cells were cultured for 11 days, and stimulated with compression load at day 1–4 and day 7–11.

Short term experiments were performed for a period of three days (**Figure 15**). At day 0, the hydrogel containing human chondrocytes were seeded in the cartilage-on-chip. The compression experiments were performed for 1, 2, and 3 days, respectively. Static conditions were kept 3 days in culture. Medium (CDM) was refreshed daily and stored for MMP activity and SPR analysis. Bright-field images and viability images were made daily. Samples were sacrificed for qPCR and IF on day 1, day 2, and day 3 for the compression conditions and on day 3 for the static conditions.



*Figure 15.* Short term cartilage-on-chip experiments. Cells were cultured for 3 days, and stimulated with compression load at day 1–3.

## 4. Materials & Methods: Culture conditions

This section includes the materials and methods followed for the experiments performed to determine the effects of temperature, oxygen, and cytokine stimulation on human chondrocyte culture, including the chondrocyte culture in both pellet and monolayer systems, and the experimental section.

#### 4.1. Mold fabrication and pellet formation

A PDMS mold (22 mm in diameter) containing 3000 mini wells (200  $\mu$ m in diameter) was used to create an agarose mold using replica molding (**Figure 16**). Agarose 3wv% solution (Ultrapure Agarose, Invitrogen, USA) was added on top of the PDMS mold until covered. After gelation, the PDMS mold was removed and the agarose chips were cut and placed in the wells of a 12 wells plate (Suspension culture, Greiner Bio One, Germany).



*Figure 16.* Preparation of pellets using replica molding technique. Agarose 3% mold is obtained using a PDMS mold. Chondrocytes are added on top of the agarose mold and centrifuged to form pellets in the mini-wells. Created with BioRender.com.

Human chondrocytes passage 5 were processed using trypsinization, as previously described. 150.000 cells/well in CPM were added to the 12 wells plate and centrifuged (300 rpm, 3 minutes, brake 2) to distribute cells over the mini-wells. Medium was replaced with 1 mL fresh CPM and refreshed daily.

## 4.2. Monolayer experiments

Human chondrocytes passage 5 were processed using trypsinization, as previously described. 25.000 cells per well were seeded in a cell culture 12-wells plate (Greiner Bio One, Germany) and 1 mL CPM was added.

## 4.3. Experimental set-up

Cells in both pellet and monolayer systems were cultured at 2.5% O<sub>2</sub>, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and various temperatures (33 °C, 37 °C, or 39 °C). Cells were cultured in a conventional incubator (20% O<sub>2</sub>, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and 37 °C) as control. Unhealthy conditions were proposed by culture in CPM, supplemented with IL-1 $\beta$  (10 ng/mL), TNF- $\alpha$  (10 ng/mL), or IL-1 $\beta$  + TNF- $\alpha$  (10 ng/mL), respectively, starting from day 1 (**Figure 17**). Cytokine solutions were prepared in CPM and refreshed daily for 3 days in total. Bright-field images were made daily. Viability staining was performed at day 0 and day 3. At day 3 the samples were stored for qPCR and IF analysis.



Figure 17. Experimental scheme for temperature and oxygen experiments under cytokine stimulation.

# 5. Analysis methods

This section includes all analysis methods performed for both hydrogel testing and culture condition studies.

#### 5.1.1. Hydrogel characterization

#### **Deformation capacity**

15  $\mu$ m in diameter polystyrene microparticles (Kisker Biotech, Germany) were used to analyze the deformation of the system. The hydrogels were supplemented with microbeads at a concentration of 61  $\mu$ g/mL in PBS. Displacement of the beads positioned at different positions in the hydrogel were analyzed by taking images at different applied pressures (0, 100, 300, 500, 700, and 800 mbar). The displacement per bead under pressure was determined by measuring the distance between the bead and the membrane. The distance between bead and membrane at rest (0 mbar) was subtracted to the distance under pressure:

Bead displacement:  $\Delta_X = X_{pressure} - X_{rest}$ 

#### Scanning electron microscopy

Dex/HA hydrogels, with and without addition of microbeads, were stored in MiliQ. and freeze dried in the lyophilizer (IlShin, the Netherlands). Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) images were taken using the Zeiss Merlin HR-SEM (Zeiss, Germany).

#### 5.1.2. Viability assay

#### Hydrogel and monolayer experiments

Viability assay was performed using Calcein AM (Thermo Fisher, USA) and Ethidium Homodimer-1 (Thermo Fisher, USA) staining. The staining mixture was prepared by mixing 2  $\mu$ L Calcein AM, 4  $\mu$ L Ethidium Homodimer-1, and 1 mL of CPM. The medium was removed from the perfusion channel of the cartilage-on-chip systems. 50  $\mu$ L of the staining solution was added in the perfusion chamber and incubated for 15 minutes at 37 °C.

For the monolayer culture, 2  $\mu$ L Calcein AM and 4  $\mu$ L Ethidium Homodimer-1 was directly added per well and incubated for 15 minutes at the experimental condition.

#### **Pellet experiments**

The ReadyProbes<sup>TM</sup> Cell Viability Imaging Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific, USA) was used to determine the cell viability of pellet chondrocytes. 2 Droplets of NucBlue® Live reagent (Hoechst 33342) and 2 droplets of NucGreen® Dead reagent were directly added to the cell culture medium and incubated for 15 minutes at the experimental condition.

The viability of hydrogel, monolayer, and pellet cultures was imaged using the EVOS fluorescence microscope (Thermo Fisher, USA). Cell viability was determined using Fiji ImageJ software by analyzing the fluorescence images. Viability was calculated using the following equation:

 $Cell \ viability \ (\%) = \frac{Amount \ of \ living \ cells - amount \ of \ dead \ cells}{Amount \ of \ living \ cells} * 100\%.$ 

#### 5.1.3. Metabolic activity assay

Metabolic activity of the cells cultured in monolayer and pellets was measured using the noncytotoxic PrestoBlue HS Cell Viability Reagent (Thermo Fisher, USA). 10% solution of PrestoBlue in CPM was prepared. Media was replaced with 1 mL of 10% PrestoBlue solution and incubated for 30 minutes at the experimental conditions. The plate was read on a plate reader (Victor3, PerkinElmer, USA) with an excitation frequency of 535 nm and emission frequency of 595 nm. 3 wells containing 10% PrestoBlue solution were considered as background measurements. The experimental wells were normalized to the average readout of the blank.

#### 5.1.4. Surface Plasmon Resonance

During cartilage-on-chip experiments, replaced medium was stored and kept in freezer (-20 °C). Medium from the device surface and medium from the perfusion channels were stored separately, surface medium was used as control. The presence of IL-6 in the culture supernatant was determined using surface plasmon resonance imaging (SPRi). During SPRi, the proteins in the supernatant are tagged to an antibody, whereby the mutant protein is purified on the sensor surface.

The sensor was prepared according to protocol as described by Jan Hendriks [84], in short: The G-type easy2spot sensor (Ssenv bv, the Netherlands) was washed with MiliQ and incubated with RBD in coupling buffer. After washing with 1% BSA and coupling buffer, the sensor was quenched with ethanol amine. The biotinylated detection antibodies for IL-6 (Biolegend, USA) were spotted on the sensor, followed with neutravidin (Thermo Fisher, USA) and 40 nm biotinylated gold nanoparticles (Cytodiagnostics, Canada), using the Wasatch microfluidics continuous flow spotter (Wasatch Microfluidics, US). Measurements were performed with the

IBIS MX96 (IBIS Technologies, the Netherlands) and evaluated using SUIT software (IBIS Technologies, the Netherlands).

#### 5.1.5. MMP activity assay

MMP activity was measured from culture supernatant for all hydrogel static and compression conditions, after 3 days of culture. A 40  $\mu$ M solution of Mca-PLGL-Dpa-AR-NH2 Fluorogenic MMP Substrate (ES001, R&D systems, USA) in assay buffer was prepared. Assay buffer was prepared using 50 mM Tris, 10 mM CaCl2, 150 mM NaCl, 0,05wt% Brij35 at pH 7,5. 50  $\mu$ L of sample was mixed with 25  $\mu$ L assay buffer and the reaction was started by adding 25  $\mu$ L substrate solution. Included controls were 100  $\mu$ L CDM, 100  $\mu$ L assay buffer, and 75  $\mu$ L assay buffer + 25  $\mu$ L substrate solution. Fluorescence was read in kinetic mode every 30 seconds, for 30 minutes, at excitation and emission wavelengths of 320 nm and 405 nm, respectively, using the Tecan infinite M200 pro plate reader (Tecan, Switzerland).

#### 5.1.6. Gene expression

#### **RNA isolation and cDNA synthesis**

The cartilage-on-chip were separated from the PDMS base by using a cutting tool, the hydrogel with cells were removed from the system and moved to an Eppendorf tube. Per tube the hydrogel sections of three systems of the same conditions were placed together, washed with PBS 1x, lysed in 350  $\mu$ L Lysis buffer (Qiagen, Germany), and stored at -80 °C. Ribonucleic acid (RNA) was isolated from the hydrogel samples using the RNeasy Micro Kit (Qiagen 74004, Germany), according to the manufacturer's instructions.

The cells cultured in a wells plate,  $350 \,\mu\text{L}$  Lysis buffer was added and cells were detached using a cell scraper and moved to an Eppendorf tube. The cultured pellets were removed from the agarose molds by inverting the mold and centrifuging for 3 minutes (300 rpm).  $350 \,\mu\text{L}$  Lysis buffer was added and transferred to an Eppendorf tube. RNA was isolated from monolayer and pellet samples using the RNeasy Plus Mini Kit (Qiagen 74134, Germany), according to the manufacturer's instructions.

RNA concentration and purity were determined using the NanoDrop 2000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, the Netherlands). Complementary DNA (cDNA) was obtained by reverse transcriptase of RNA, using the iScript cDNA synthesis kit from Bio-rad Laboratories (Bio-Rad, USA) and the Bio Rad CFX Connect Real-time system (Bio-Rad, USA).

#### **RT-qPCR**

cDNA samples were diluted in RNAse-free water (Lonza, Switzerland) to obtain a final concentration of 5 ng/8  $\mu$ L. Primers were prepared by diluting the forward and reverse primers in RNAse-free water (Lonza, Switzerland). Primers are listed in **Appendix 12.2**.

Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) and Beta Actin (ACTB) were selected as housekeeping genes. Collagen type II (ColII), SOX9, Aggrecan (ACAN), and Lubricin (PRG4) were selected for chondrocyte activity and functionality. ColI and ColX were selected to investigate chondrocyte dedifferentiation and hypertrophy. Further, fibronectin-1 and hyaluronan (HAS2) were selected as anabolic genes and matrix metalloproteinase-1 (MMP-1), MMP-3, MMP-9, MMP-13, hyaluronidase-1 (HYAL-1), HYAL-2, HYAL-3, a disintegrin and metalloproteinase with thrombospondin motifs-4 (ADAMTS-4), and ADAMTS-5 to determine the catabolic activity. The diluted cDNA samples, SYBR reagent (SensiMix Bioline Reagents, UK), and primers were loaded in a wells plate (Table 2). Analysis was performed using the Bio-Rad CFX Connect Real-time system (Bio-Rad, USA). Obtained Ct values were normalized to the housekeeping genes to obtain  $\Delta$ Ct values. Ct values higher than 38 were considered as undetermined and were left out.  $2^{-\Delta Ct}$  values were determined and plotted to show the relative fold gene expression level.

Table 2. Volumes for qPCR.		
SYBR reagent	10 µL	
Primers (Forward + Reverse in water)	2 µL	
cDNA (in water)	8 µL	
Total	20 µL	

#### 5.1.7. Immunofluorescence staining

Cells were washed twice with 1x PBS and fixated using 4% fixation buffer (4% paraformaldehyde 0.1M in 1x PBS, pH 7,2 — 7,4) for 15 minutes. After fixation, samples were washed 3 times with PBS 1x and incubated with permeabilization buffer (0,25% Triton X-100 in PBS 1x) for 30 minutes. After washing 3 times with 1x PBS, cells were blocked with blocking buffer (1% BSA in PBS 1x) for 60 minutes at RT. Primary antibodies were diluted in blocking buffer (Table 3), and samples were incubated with the primary antibodies overnight at 4 °C. After washing with PBS 1x, the samples were incubated with the secondary antibodies, diluted in blocking buffer, for 60 minutes at RT (Table 4). The samples were washed 3 times with PBS 1x before incubating with 0,1 ug/mL DAPI for 5 minutes at RT. Samples were stained with Phalloidin for 25 minutes at RT. Samples were stored in PBS 1x protected from light at 4 °C and imaged using the EVOS fluorescence microscope (Thermo Fisher, USA) or NIKON Confocal Laser Microscope A1 (Nikon Instruments, the Netherlands). Images were analyzed using ImageJ software (Fiji, USA).

Table 3. Primary antibodies.

Antibody	Туре	Dilution	Source
Collagen ll	Rabbit anti-Collagen II	1:100	Abcam, ab34712
Collagen VI	Rabbit anti-Collagen VI	1:100	Abcam, ab182744
Aggrecan	Mouse anti-Aggrecan	1:100	Abcam, ab3778
MMP-13	Rabbit anti-MMP-13	1:100	Abcam, ab219620

Table 4. Secondary antibodies.			
Product	Dilution	Source	
Alexa Fluor 488 donkey anti-rabbit	1:200	Abcam	
Alexa Fluor 647 donkey anti-mouse	1:200	Abcam	

# 5.1.8. Figures and statistical analysis

Figures were created using Microsoft Origin (USA), BioRender (Canada) and Microsoft Powerpoint (USA). Fiji ImageJ software (Java, USA) was used for image progressing, distance, circularity, perimeter and area measurements and determining cell and bead displacement.

Data is shown for means  $\pm$  SD and for experiments with a minimum of N = 3, statistical analysis was performed using Microsoft Origin (USA) for one-way ANOVA and post hoc Tukey test, with significances p < 0,1 (\*), p < 0,05 (\*\*), p < 0,01 (\*\*\*), and p < 0,001 (\*\*\*).

# 6. Results: Hydrogel testing

## 6.1. Hydrogel characterization

### 6.1.1. Scanning electron microscopy

Hydrogel structures were imaged using scanning electron microscopy (SEM). Pore sizes were larger for Dex/HA 5wt% hydrogel in comparison to 10wt% (**Figure 18**). **Figure 18-C** shows the integration of microbeads within the structure of Dex/HA 5wt% hydrogel.



*Figure 18.* Scanning electron microscopy images showing the structures of Dex/HA 5wt% (A) and Dex/HA 10wt% (B), scalebars: 100 μm. C) integration of microbeads in Dex/HA 5wt% hydrogel, scalebar: 10 μm.

#### 6.1.2. Degradation

Before treatment with polydopamine, it was seen that Dex/HA hydrogel degraded over time (**Figure 19**). After 10 days of culture in Dex/HA 10wt% under compression stimulation, only 42,5% of the hydrogels did remain intact (**Figure 19-C**). Applying a polydopamine coating before hydrogel injection was proposed to overcome this problem.



*Figure 19.* A) Degradation of Dex/HA 5wt% hydrogel static condition, indicated by green arrows. B) Hydrogel intactsness was proposed by PD treatment before hydrogel injection, scalebars: 500  $\mu$ m. C) Progress of Dex/HA degradation over time.

#### 6.1.3. Deformation

Deformation of the hydrogel was determined by applying stimulation of 0, 100, 300, 500, 700, and 800 mbar to the mechanical actuation section (**Figure 20**). The displacement per bead under the various loading was determined.



**Figure 20.** Deformation of Agarose, Dex/HA 5wt% and Dex/HA 10wt% hydrogels containing microbeads, at 0, 100, 300, 500, 700 and 800 mbar. Scalebars: 500 µm.

The distance to the membrane of beads positioned at different positions in the hydrogel was plotted against their displacement under applied pressure (**Figure 21**). Bead displacement in the upper region of the hydrogel section, at  $0 - 200 \mu m$  distance from the PDMS membrane was equivalent for agarose and Dex/HA 10wt%. Dex/HA 5wt% showed more bead displacement in this zone. In the middle section, between 400 and 1000  $\mu m$  distance from the PDMS membrane, agarose and Dex/HA 5wt% showed comparable deformation capacities with bead displacements between 5 and 25  $\mu m$ , while Dex/HA 10wt% showed less displacement (below 12,5  $\mu m$ ). In the section most close to the PDMS pillars, at 1000 – 1200  $\mu m$  distance from the membrane, the beads in agarose hydrogel were still affected by the applied pressure, whereas beads in both Dex/HA hydrogels present nearly no displacement. Data regarding the deformation of Dex/HA without PD treatment is shown in **Appendix 12.3.4**.



*Figure 21.* Displacement of microbeads in agarose, Dex/HA 5wt% and Dex/HA 10wt%. Microbead displacement was measured at 0, 100, 300, 500, 700 and 800 mbar.

#### 6.1.4. Beads migration

To determine whether the Dex/HA hydrogels containing  $\mu$ -beads were degrading over time, mechanical stimulation was applied for 3 days, by 60 minutes stimulation (350 mbar) per day. The bright-field images made on day 0, before mechanical stimulation, were compared with the images after 3 days of stimulation, and compared in **Figure 22** for Dex/HA 10wt%. A small bead displacement was detected in the upper zone of the hydrogel, as can be seen in the red section (**Figure 22-D**), but in the other sections the beads did remain on their place.



**Figure 22.** Bright-field images of Dex/HA 10wt% at day 0 (A) and day 3 (B) for the compression condition. C) Overlay with day 0 (in green) and day 3 (in red). D) Higher magnification for three zones, with bead displacement indicated using white arrows. Scalebars:  $250 \mu m$ .

## 6.2. Cell-hydrogel culture

#### 6.2.1. Bright-field imaging

Bright-field images were used to determine cell distribution and morphology. Chondrocytes did not change cellular morphology over time in both static and compression conditions. Moreover, comparable size and morphology was seen for the 3 hydrogels (**Figure 23**).



*Figure 23.* Bright-field images for agarose and Dex/HA hydrogel compression conditions at day 3. Scalebars:  $250 \mu m$ .

#### 6.2.2. Viability

Viability was evaluated using a LIVE/DEAD assay at day 0, day 7 and day 11 for static and compression conditions (**Figure 24 and 25**). For both static and compression conditions, no significant differences were detected between the hydrogels at the time points. A statistically significant reduction in viability from day 0 to day 11 was shown for all conditions. For all hydrogels, the viability was not affected by the mechanical stimuli, since no significant difference was seen between their static and compression conditions.



*Figure 24.* A) Viability static conditions (N = 12) and B) viability compression conditions (N = 9). Values are expressed with  $\pm$  SD and p < 0,1 (\*), p < 0,05 (\*\*), p < 0,01 (\*\*\*), p < 0,001 (\*\*\*\*).



**Figure 25.** Viability staining for agarose 2%, Dex/HA 5wt% and Dex/HA 10wt% at day 3. Living cells stained in green and dead cells stained red. Scalebars: 500 µm.

#### 6.2.3. Cell displacement

Cell displacement during compression loading was evaluated by comparing the bright-field images made in static (0 mbar) and under mechanical stimulation (350 mbar). Figure 26 shows the overlay of both conditions for Dex/HA 10wt%. Close to the membrane, the cell displacement was higher (Figure 26-D, red section) with respect to the section close to the pillars (Figure 26-D, blue section).



**Figure 26.** Bright-field images of Dex/HA 10wt% at 0 mbar (A) and 350 mbar (compression direction indicated with blue arrow) (B). C) Overlay of 0 mbar (in blue) and 350 mbar (in green). D) Magnifications for three selected zones, cell displacement is indicated with white arrows. Scalebars: 500  $\mu$ m.

#### 6.2.4. Cell migration

To determine chondrocyte movement, images at day 0, made before exposing to mechanical loading, were compared to images taken after 3 days of mechanical compression. The overlay of both images for Dex/HA 10/wt% hydrogel presented movement of the cells towards the point of mechanical stimulation, centered in the middle of the PDMS membrane (**Figure 27**). Cells in the upper section of the hydrogel, close to the membrane, did move in a lesser extent when compared to the cells in the deeper hydrogel region. Chondrocytes cultured in agarose under compression conditions, showed no cell migration (**Figure 28**). In both Dex/HA 5wt% and 10wt% static cultures, chondrocytes were migrating between different layers of the hydrogel and undirectional (**Figure 29**).



**Figure 27.** Bright-field images of Dex/HA 10wt% at day 0 (A) and at day 3 (B) for the compression condition. C) Overlay of day 0 (in green) and day 3 (in red). D) Magnification of 9 selected zones, cell displacement is indicated with black arrows. Scalebars: 250 µm.



**Figure 28.** Bright-field images of Dex/HA 10wt% at day 0 (A) and at day 3 (B) for the static condition. C) Overlay of day 0 (in yellow) and day 3 (in blue). D) Magnification of 3 selected zones, cell displacement is indicated with black arrows. Scalebars: 250 µm.



*Figure 29.* Bright-field images of agarose 2% at day 0 (A) and at day 3 (B) for the compression condition. C) Overlay of day 0 (in green) and day 3 (in red). D) Magnification of 3 selected zones. Scalebars:  $250 \mu m$ .

#### 6.2.5. Surface plasmon resonance

Using SPR, the presence of IL-6 in the culture supernatant after 3 and 7 days of culture in static and compression conditions was determined. For both Dex/HA hydrogels, a reduction in the cytokine presence was seen between day 3 and day 7 after mechanical stimulation (**Figure 30**). Both static conditions did not change over time. Overall, chondrocytes cultured in Dex/HA 5wt% hydrogel did release IL-6 in higher extent, in comparison to Dex/HA 10wt%.



*Figure 30. IL-6* concentration (ng/mL) after 3 and 7 days of culture in both static and compression for Dex/HA 5wt% (*A*) and Dex/HA 10wt% (*B*). Comp. = compression, with p < 0,001 (\*\*\*\*).

For agarose hydrogel, only culture supernatant after 3 days in static conditions was analyzed and compared to Dex/HA 5wt% and Dex/HA 10wt% conditions (**Figure 31**). Dex/HA 5wt% showed the highest average IL-6 production, but was not statistically different from agarose.



*Figure 31.* SPR data for Dex/HA 5%, Dex/HA 10% and Agarose 2%, 3 days of culture in static condition. P < 0,1 (\*).

#### 6.2.6. MMP activity

The presence of MMP-1, MMP-2, MMP-7, MMP-8, MMP-9, MMP-12, MMP-13, MMP-14, MMP-15, and MMP-16 after 3 days of culture was determined using a kinetic MMP activity assay. The MMPs initiate a fluorescence signal, which intensity is plotted over time for all conditions (**Figure 32-A**). All samples reached almost directly their maximum value, indicating a high reaction speed. MMP expression was influenced by both mechanical stimulation and hydrogel choice. The average intensity of the 4 last measured cycles was plotted, showing the highest activity for Dex/HA 10wt% static and compression conditions. Agarose static culture resulted in lowest activity (**Figure 32-B**).



*Figure 32.* A) MMP activity for all hydrogel conditions, analyzed from supernatant after 3 days of culture. Measurement was carried out every 30 seconds, for 30 minutes. B) Average intensity of the last 4 measured cycles.
#### 6.2.7. Gene expression

Relative gene expression was obtained by normalizing the CT values to the values of the housekeeping gene GAPDH, with the statistical analysis for the qPCR data in **Appendix 12.4.7**.

The cartilage-specific gene SOX9, which plays a role in chondrogenesis, showed high expression in Dex/HA 5wt% chondrocytes. For both Dex/HA cultures, there were no significant differences between the static and compression culture. In agarose compression condition the expression of SOX9 was three-fold higher with respect to its static culture. Further, there were no significant differences between the Dex/HA 5wt% compression and agarose 2% compression culture detected.

The cartilage-specific gene Aggrecan (ACAN) was upregulated in Dex/HA 5wt% and agarose compression conditions, with respect to their static cultures. In Dex/HA 10wt% chondrocytes, ACAN was found significantly higher (P < 0.01) for the static condition. Lubricin (PRG4), which enables low-friction articulation in a healthy joint, was highly upregulated in agarose compression culture (P < 0.001). In contrast to Dex/HA 5wt%, showing an expression twice as high in its static condition with respect to its compression culture (P < 0.001).



*Figure 33.* Relative gene expression of SOX9, ACAN, and PRG4 for all hydrogel conditions. Graphs express the  $2^{-ACt}$  values, normalized for housekeeping gene GAPDH. Mean values  $\pm$  SD, N = 3.

The degradation of cartilage proteoglycans, especially Aggrecan, was determined by ADAMTS-4 and ADAMTS-5 expression (**Figure 34**). ADAMTS-4 was upregulated in both Dex/HA compression conditions, with respect to their static cultures (P < 0,05 for Dex/HA 5wt% and P < 0,001 for Dex/HA 10wt%). Agarose showed high levels of ADAMTS-4 positive cells in static, significant equal to Dex/HA 5wt% static and compression expression. On the other hand, ADAMTS-5 was highly upregulated in Dex/HA 5wt% static condition (P < 0,001), while Dex/HA 10wt% and agarose showed an increase for the compression cultures with a low expression in their static cultures (both P < 0,01). HA-degrading enzyme HYAL-1 was highly upregulated in Dex/HA 5wt% static and in Dex/HA 10wt% compression cultures. Further, HYAL-3 was highly expressed in Dex/HA 5wt% static and Dex/HA 10wt% compression culture. In agarose static culture, the cells did express both hyaluronidases in a low extent.

Furthermore, the expression of degradative enzymes MMP-1 and MMP-13 were upregulated for both Dex/HA 5wt% and Dex/HA 10wt% compression cultures, and did differ significantly from their static cultures (P < 0,001). MMP-13 was not expressed in agarose chondrocytes, which was further confirmed by immunofluorescence staining for hydrogel droplet cultures, showing no presence of MMP-13 in agarose, but a high amount of MMP-13 positive cells in Dex/HA 10wt% (**Appendix 12.4.8, Figure S.9**).



*Figure 34. Relative gene expression of ADAMTSs, HYALs, and MMPs for all hydrogel conditions. Graphs express the*  $2^{-ACt}$  *values, normalized for housekeeping gene GAPDH. Mean values*  $\pm$  *SD,* N = 3.

The cytokine IL-6 was highly expressed in agarose compression conditions (**Figure 35**). Dex/HA 10wt% chondrocytes did not show statistical significance between the static and compression condition, and for Dex/HA 5wt% the expression was almost twice as high in the static with respect to the compression culture (P < 0,001), suggesting that IL-6 production is not promoted under mechanical stimulation in Dex/HA.



*Figure 35.* Relative gene expression of IL-6, for all hydrogel conditions. Graphs express the  $2^{-\Delta Ct}$  values, normalized for housekeeping gene GAPDH. Mean values  $\pm$  SD, N = 3.

## 7.1. Results: Culture conditions

### 7.1.1. Monolayer experiments

The influence of temperature, oxygen, and cytokine stimulation on monolayer chondrocyte culture was evaluated using bright-field imaging, viability assay, immunofluorescence staining, metabolic activity and gene expression. In some sections, only the healthy and IL-1 $\beta$  + TNF- $\alpha$  conditions were considered.

### **Bright-field imaging**

Cell morphology was evaluated using bright-field imaging. The effect of low oxygen tension was determined by comparing the 37 °C hypoxia culture with the 37 °C conventional cultured cells (**Figure 36**). Under hypoxia, the morphology of the cells showed a completely different appearance with respect to the normoxia culture, which was also seen for the 33 °C and 39 °C hypoxic conditions (**Appendix 12.5.1**). The cells in hypoxia culture enlarged their cell area by stretching onto the surface. The contact surface area was further enhanced for the cells after administration of IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  for 3 days.



*Figure 36.* Bright-field imaging of 37 °C 20%  $O_2$  and 2,5%  $O_2$  culture, for healthy and cytokine stimulated conditions at day 3. Stretching on surface is indicated by red arrows. Scalebars: 200  $\mu$ m.

#### Monolayer viability

Under healthy conditions, cell death was not promoted in 33 °C and 37 °C hypoxic culture (**Figure 37 & 38**). 39 °C did show a significant increase in cell death for healthy culture (P < 0,001), which was further enhanced by cytokine stimulation. Cytokine stimulation did influence the viability for all hypoxic culture conditions, but did not result in cell death for the conventional culture. No significant difference was detected between 33 °C and conventional healthy and diseased conditions.



*Figure 37.* Chondrocyte viability at day 3 healthy (left) and cytokine stimulated (right) conditions for different temperature and oxygen levels. Values are expressed with  $\pm$  SD with p < 0,1 (\*), p < 0,05 (\*\*), p < 0,01 (\*\*\*), p < 0,001 (\*\*\*\*).



*Figure 38.* Chondrocyte viability at day 3 healthy and cytokine stimulated conditions for different temperature and oxygen levels. Scalebars: 400 µm.

#### Immunofluorescence staining

Protein expression was detected by immunofluorescence staining, for phalloidin and Aggrecan in 33 °C hypoxic culture (**Figure 39**). Phalloidin staining visualizes the cell contact area under different cytokine stimulations. Aggrecan was detected in a small extent for the cytokine stimulated condition, indicated with white arrows (**Figure 39-D**). Additional images for Collagen VI and Aggrecan staining are shown in **Appendix 12.5.2**.



**Figure 39.** Phalloidin and Aggrecan immunofluorescence staining of 33 °C hypoxic healthy (A), IL-1  $\beta$  (B), TNF- $\alpha$  (C), and IL-1  $\beta$  + TNF- $\alpha$  (D) stimulated conditions at day 3. White arrows indicate presence of Aggrecan. Images taken with Nikon Confocal; green (phalloidin), red (Aggrecan), and blue (nuclear staining, DAPI). Scalebars: 200  $\mu$ m.

#### **Cell stretching**

Since aberrant cell stretching was seen, the area per cell was determined using the immunofluorescence stained cytoskeleton. A square, including all outermost points per cell, was measured (**Figure 40-B**). Only single cells were considered, when attached to another cell, it was difficult to determine the separate cytoskeletons. The cell areas were plotted for all conditions to estimate the differences in cell stretching (**Figure 40-A**). The healthy hypoxic cultures resulted in an increase in cell stretching, compared with the healthy conventional culture.

In 33 °C and 37 °C hypoxic cultures, TNF– $\alpha$  and the cytokine cocktail affected the cell areas in greatest extent. 39 °C hypoxia condition affected cell stretching, but the separate cytokines did not highly influence the stretching, and the cytokine cocktail resulted in a slight decrease in surface area.



**Figure 40.** A) Cell area per condition, N = 8. B) Immunofluorescence staining of phalloidin (green) and DAPI (blue) for quantification of cell area using ImageJ; measured area squares are indicated in red. Scalebar: 400  $\mu$ m.

#### 7.1.2. Pellet culture

The influence of temperature, oxygen, and cytokine stimulation on chondrocyte behavior was determined for pellet culture system.

#### **Pellet formation**

Chondrocytes were distributed over the mini-wells with an average of  $29.4 \pm 11.5$  cells per pellet (**Figure 41**). At 33 °C hypoxia culture, the pellets formed under healthy circumstances were almost circular, whereas the cytokine stimulation resulted in irregular circumferences (**Figure 42**). Moreover, while in the healthy conditions a single pellet was formed, in the samples treated with cytokines, the single pellets did de-cluster, resulting in an increase in pellet number per well. Comparable behavior was seen for the other conditions after 3 days of culture (**Appendix 12.5.4**).



**Figure 41**. Bright-field image of pellet overview (A) and one mini-well containing 1 pellet (B) for 33 °C hypoxic culture. Viability assay with nuclei in blue (DAPI), and dead cells in green (C) and one mini-well containing 1 pellet (D). Average number of cells per pellet was 29 (E). Scalebars of A and C: 200  $\mu$ m and diameter of mini-wells: 200  $\mu$ m.



Figure 42. Pellets cultured at 33 °C hypoxia culture at day 2 and day 3. Scalebars: 100 µm.

The differences between the conditions were determined by measuring the circularity, the perimeter, and the number of pellets per mini-well (**Figure 43**). Since the number of cells differ per pellet, we considered per conditions 2 spots, and analyzed per condition 8 pellets in total. Under healthy circumstances, the biggest pellets were formed for the 33 °C hypoxic culture, while the perimeters of 37 °C hypoxic pellets were half of 33 °C pellets perimeter (260 versus 120  $\mu$ m). Cytokines did not statistically affect the circularity of the formed pellets at 37 °C and 39 °C hypoxic cultures. Pellets fragmented under stimulation of IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF– $\alpha$ , resulting in

a maximum of 6 separate cell aggregates per well for 33  $^{\circ}$ C, while under healthy conditions all cells did remain together.



*Figure 43.* Circulatory (left), perimeter in  $\mu m$  (middle), and amount of pellets (left) at day 3, for all culture conditions. Values are shown with  $\pm$  SD. N = 8, p < 0,1 (\*), p < 0,05 (\*\*), p < 0,01 (\*\*\*), and p < 0,001 (\*\*\*\*).

#### **Pellet viability**

The viability of pellet chondrocytes was determined for all healthy conditions after 3 days of culture (**Figure 44**). Viability at 39 °C and conventional conditions were significant lower with respect to the 33 °C hypoxic culture. Viability of cells cultured in a healthy pellet was not statistically different to cytokine stimulated conditions (**Appendix 12.5.3**).



*Figure 44.* Pellet viability for healthy conditions at day 3. Values are shown with  $\pm$  SD and p < 0.05 (\*\*) and p < 0.1 (\*).

#### 7.1.3. Metabolic activity: Monolayer versus pellets

The chondrocyte monolayer and pellet culture were compared for their metabolic activity and the temperature, oxygen, and cytokine influence on both culture systems was approached.

A PrestoBlue assay was performed to determine the metabolic activity of the monolayer and pellet cultured chondrocytes. Healthy conditions for monolayer culture (**Figure 45**) was compared with the pellet culture (**Figure 46**). Due to difference in cell densities, the 2D and pellet cultures cannot be compared 1:1, but only trend wise.





*Figure 45.* Fold change of metabolic activity for healthy monolayer cultures, at 33 °C, 37 °C, and 39 °C hypoxic conditions and conventional condition. Values are expressed with  $\pm$  *SD* with p < 0,001 (\*\*\*\*). N = 3.

**Figure 46.** Fold change of metabolic activity for healthy pellet cultures, at 33 °C, 37 °C, and 39 °C hypoxic conditions and conventional condition. Values are expressed with  $\pm$  SD with p < 0,001 (\*\*\*\*). N = 3.

Results indicated that the metabolic activity was altered by culture temperature and oxygen tension. In monolayer culture, the metabolic activity was inhibited at 33 °C and 39 °C hypoxic culture. In both monolayer and pellet cultures, highest activity was detected at 37 °C hypoxic culture. Further, the 37 °C hypoxic and conventional culture did not show a significant difference in activity.

Furthermore, the metabolic activity was evaluated for the cytokine stimulated conditions for monolayer cultures (**Figure 47**) and pellet cultures (**Appendix 12.5.5**). Cytokine stimulation did not significantly influence the activity at conventional culture. At 39 °C, the individual cytokines did negatively alter the metabolic activity, while the cytokine cocktail led to an increase in activity. Culture in a pellet at 33 °C and 37 °C hypoxia resulted in a decrease in activity for pellets, with respect to the monolayer culture.



**Figure 47.** Fold change of metabolic activity assay for all monolayer cultures, at 33 °C, 37 °C, and 39 °C hypoxic and conventional conditions. Values are expressed with  $\pm$  SD, N = 3, with significances p < 0,1 (\*), p < 0,05 (\*\*), p < 0,01 (\*\*\*), and p < 0,001 (\*\*\*\*).

#### 7.1.4. Gene expression: Monolayer versus pellets

The chondrocyte monolayer and pellet culture were compared for their gene expression and the temperature, oxygen, and cytokine influence on both culture systems was approached.

#### **Glycolysis-related**

GAPDH is a metabolic expression-related gene and involved in the catalyzation of the glycolysis, therefore its expression is influenced by culture temperature and oxygen levels (**Figure 48**). Lowest CT values, corresponding to a high GAPDH expression, were determined for the conventional monolayer culture. In all hypoxic conditions, the GAPDH activity was lower, with respect to the conventional control. Highest expression was seen for the 33 °C monolayer culture, corresponding to low GAPDH activity. Significant differences were detected between monolayer and pellet culture for the 33 °C and conventional conditions (p < 0,05). No significant differences were detected among all the pellet culture conditions (33 °C, 37 °C, 39 °C, and conventional).



*Figure 48.* GAPDH gene expression for healthy monolayer and pellet cultures, at 33 °C, 37 °C, and 39 °C hypoxic and conventional conditions. Values are expressed as median and interquartile range, N = 4, and p < 0,1 (\*), p < 0,05 (\*\*), p < 0,01 (\*\*\*), and p < 0,001 (\*\*\*\*).

Despite the variations in GAPDH per condition, it was considered as housekeeping gene by normalizing each individual condition to the obtained GAPDH values for that specific condition. A selection of plots with raw CT values are shown in **Appendix 12.5.6**.

#### Monolayer qPCR

Transcription factor SOX9 plays a key role in cartilage development, and expressed in a low extent for the hypoxic cultures, compared to the conventional culture (**Figure 49**). The Cartilage Oligomeric Matrix Protein (COMP) was evaluated as marker for cartilage turnover and cartilage metabolism, and was highly expressed at 33 °C.



*Figure 49.* Relative gene expression of SOX9 and COMP for all healthy monolayer culture conditions. Graphs express the  $2^{-\Delta Ct}$  values, normalized for housekeeping gene GAPDH. Values are expressed with  $\pm$  SD, N = 2.

Collagen I expression was upregulated at 39 °C. HIF-1 $\alpha$ , an essential transcription factor for the development of cartilage under hypoxic condition, was upregulated in both 37 °C hypoxic and normoxic cultures, but not synthesized under hypothermic (33 °C) and hyperthermic circumstances (39 °C).



**Figure 50.** Relative gene expression of ColI and HIF-1 $\alpha$  for all healthy monolayer culture conditions. Graphs express the 2<sup>- $\Delta$ Ct</sup> values, normalized for housekeeping gene GAPDH. Values are expressed with  $\pm$  SD, N = 2.

Next, stress response of the chondrocytes was determined by evaluating the expression of heat shock proteins (HSP). HSP70 was highly expressed at 33 °C (**Figure 51**). HSP90 showed no significant differences for 33 °C, 39 °C and conventional cultures, 37 °C hypoxic culture did not present HSP positive cells.



*Figure 51.* Relative gene expression of HSP90 and HSP70 for all healthy monolayer culture conditions. Graphs express the  $2^{-\Delta Ct}$  values, normalized for housekeeping gene GAPDH. Values are expressed with  $\pm$  SD, N = 3.

The production of HSP70 was further elaborated by comparing the healthy and diseased conditions (**Figure 52**). The influence of cytokines on the HSP70 expression was temperature related, with the greatest influence of TNF– $\alpha$  at 37 °C, and for the cytokine cocktail at 39 °C. In 33 °C and 37 °C hypoxic conditions, IL-1 $\beta$  application did not affect the HSP70 production and when stimulated with the cytokine cocktail, the expression of HSP70 was lowered for all conditions.



*Figure 52.* Relative gene expression of HSP70 for all monolayer culture conditions. Graphs express the  $2^{-\Delta Ct}$  values, normalized for housekeeping gene GAPDH. Values are expressed with  $\pm$  SD, N = 2.

The glycolysis-related pyruvate kinase muscle isozyme M2 (PKM2) was investigated as measure for the glycolytic metabolism, and highly expressed in both 33 °C and 37 °C hypoxic cultured chondrocytes, with respect to 39 °C and conventional cultures (**Figure 53**).



*Figure 53.* Relative gene expression of PKM2 for all healthy monolayer culture conditions. Graphs express the 2<sup>- $\Delta Ct$ </sup> values, normalized for housekeeping gene GAPDH. Values are expressed with  $\pm$  SD, N = 2.

The glycolytic metabolism was further analyzed using hexokinases (HKs), which are catalyzers of the glucose metabolism. Cytokine stimulation resulted in an increase of HK2 in all hypoxic cultures (**Figure 54**). The effects of IL-1 $\beta$  were highest at 33 °C and 37 °C hypoxic conditions. TNF- $\alpha$  did not promote the HK2 production under hypoxic circumstances.





*Figure 54. Relative gene expression of HK2 for all monolayer culture conditions. Graphs express the*  $2^{-\Delta Ct}$  *values, normalized for housekeeping gene GAPDH. Values are expressed with*  $\pm$  *SD,* N = 2.

#### Pellet qPCR

COMP was highly expressed in 33 °C monolayer culture, but the expression was lower in 33 °C pellet cultures (**Figure 55**). When compared to the monolayer cultures, COMP was upregulated in 37 °C hypoxia and normoxia pellet systems.

At 37 °C hypoxic and conventional culture conditions, higher levels of HSP90 positive cells were found for the pellet system with respect to the monolayer (**Figure 55**). Conventional pellet chondrocytes expressed HSP90 in a higher extent compared to its monolayer. The 33 °C and 39 °C conditions showed a comparable HSP90 expression for both pellet and monolayer cultures.



*Figure 55. Relative gene expression of COMP and HSP90 for all healthy pellet cultures. Graphs express the*  $2^{-4Ct}$  *values, normalized for housekeeping gene GAPDH. Values are expressed with*  $\pm$  *SD,* N = 2*.* 

Collagen I was detected in all pellet culture systems (**Figure 56**). Collagen I was not expressed in 39C monolayer culture, but was elevated in the pellet chondrocytes. Transcription factor HIF-1 $\alpha$  was highly expressed in the conventional pellet culture, suggesting that the chondrocytes experience a hypoxic environment when cultured in a pellet. However, the pellets

that were cultured in the low oxygen levels did not show high expression of HIF-1 $\alpha$ , which was equivalent to the expression observed for the monolayer culture.



*Figure 56.* Relative gene expression of Collagen I and HIF-1 $\alpha$  for all healthy pellet cultures. Graphs express the 2<sup>- $\Delta Ct$ </sup> values, normalized for housekeeping gene GAPDH. Values are expressed with  $\pm$  SD, N = 2.

The 37 °C hypoxic pellet culture showed upregulation of glycolysis-related genes HK2 and PKM2, which is in contrast to the monolayer culture (**Figure 57**). The other culture conditions presented a comparable expression for both genes.



*Figure 57.* Relative gene expression of HK2 and PKM2 for all healthy pellet cultures. Graphs express the  $2^{-\Delta Ct}$  values, normalized for housekeeping gene GAPDH. Values are expressed with  $\pm$  SD, N = 2.

The effects of cytokine stimulation on HK2 production was comparable for pellet and monolayer cultures (**Figure 58**). With respect to the cytokine conditions, the chondrocytes cultured in a healthy hypoxic environment showed low HK2 expression, which was comparable with the obtained monolayer data.



*Figure 58.* Relative gene expression of HK2 for all pellet culture conditions. Graphs express the  $2^{-\Delta Ct}$  values, normalized for housekeeping gene GAPDH. Values are expressed with  $\pm$  SD, N = 2.

Expression of HSP70 was promoted by the separate cytokines, but in a lesser extent by the cytokine cocktail in 37 °C and 39 °C hypoxic cultured pellets (**Figure 59**). Cytokine stimulation did promote HSP production in a lesser extent for 37C hypoxic and conventional conditions, showing higher expression In the healthy conditions. In contrast to the healthy monolayer 37 °C hypoxic and conventional cultures, showing no HSP70 expression.



*Figure 59. Relative gene expression of HSP70 for all pellet culture conditions. Graphs express the*  $2^{-\Delta Ct}$  *values, normalized for housekeeping gene GAPDH. Values are expressed with*  $\pm$  *SD,* N = 2.

## 8. Discussion

Due to the complex structure and unique characteristics of articular cartilage, research on cartilage is hindered by the lack of current *in vitro* models that fully represent the *in vivo* situation. This project evaluated the effects of hydrogel, temperature, oxygen, and cytokines on human chondrocyte *in vitro* culture. By addressing these separate factors, a representative model for healthy and diseased cartilage studies was aimed. First part of the project included testing of the Dex-TA/HA-TA (Dex/HA) hydrogel for dynamic cartilage-on-chip culture. Second part of the project included the evaluation of 33 °C (intra-articular), 37 °C (body core), and 39 °C (hyperthermic) culture under hypoxic circumstances, in both 2D and 3D human chondrocyte culture systems. Lastly, an inflammatory response was triggered by cytokine stimulation under the same temperature and oxygen conditions. In this section, all findings will be discussed and compared with other studies.

### Hydrogel

Human chondrocytes behavior when cultured in 3 types of hydrogels (agarose 2%, Dex/HA 5wt%, and Dex/HA 10wt%) was evaluated for cartilage markers and degradative factors using a cartilage-on-chip platform.

### Hydrogel degradation

Although biocompatible and easy to use, Dex/HA hydrogel was progressively de-touching and degrading in the system respect to agarose (**Figure 19**). To avoid this problem, surface functionalization of the PDMS was performed using a PD layer to support Dex/HA attachment. PD is a biocompatible coating that can strongly adsorb onto surfaces by covalent conjugation. The electrostatic interaction between PD and HA molecules was described by Xue et al., composing an anti-inflammatory coating for implantable devices. [85] The coating improved the hydrogel binding, resulting in nearly no hydrogel detachment from the microfluidic device. Moreover, the connection between the Dex/HA hydrogel and PDMS did not significantly alter the medium diffusion through the hydrogel as high viability was detected for chondrocytes cultured up to 11 days.

### Mechanical stimulation capacities

Next, 15 µm polystyrene beads were used to determine the deformation capacities of the 3 hydrogels in the cartilage-on-chip. First, all hydrogels presented a progressive decrease in hydrogel deformation from the mechanical actuation system to the pillars, suggesting gradient-generation. For both Dex/HA hydrogels, the deformation was lower with respect to agarose, which could be related to the differences in the hydrogel architectures; agarose present a sponge-like structure (**Figure 4**); while Dex/HA gels are composed of a fiber-like network (**Figure 5**), which may affect the way of loading distribution. Further, the higher polysaccharide density and stiffness of Dex/HA 10wt% declares its different behavior with respect to Dex/HA 5wt%. The deformation experiments were not performed using human chondrocytes, but the data for the microbeads suggests that cells in agarose would be more affected by the mechanical loading, resulting in a better sense of compressive stimuli with respect to the Dex/HA hydrogels.

The gradient-generation found during the deformation experiments using microbeads could have altered the sense of loading by the cells. During this project, the cells that were exposed to mechanical loading were not distinguished for their position in the hydrogel. It would be an interesting extension to determine the differences in sensing and behavior between the cells cultured close to the membrane and the cells cultured in the deeper hydrogel section. This could be achieved by using immunofluorescence staining for chondrocyte specific markers (CoIII, ACAN) and anabolic markers (MMPs), or by careful cutting the separate hydrogel sections for gene expression analysis.

#### **Cell movement**

Within native cartilage tissue, chondrocytes show mobility under various stimuli, e.g. growth factors or due to a tissue injury. Various research have aimed to mimic the chondrocyte motility *in vitro*, aiming to mimic the highly controlled and specialized movements. [13] Mobility of our Dex/HA chondrocytes was noticed in both static and compressive conditions, in both 5wt% and 10wt% hydrogels (**Figure 27 and 28**). Research has shown that chemoattractants, including hyaluronic acid, can stimulate the migration of chondrocytes. [72] Dex/HA hydrogel provides cell attachment sites due to the presence of biodegradable HA. [50] One plausible reason for cell motility is the activation of the catabolic hyaluronidases from the chondrocytes which could progressively degrade the HA. Besides, Dex/HA chondrocytes produced high levels of MMPs (mRNA and protein level) and ADAMTSs (mRNA level), again demonstrating that the cells were catabolic active. Since MMPs are expressed and secreted in inactive form, it needs to be further elaborated whether the degradative factors were active and degrading the hydrogel. An interesting investigation would be to determine the amount of released HA over time in the cell culture supernatant, by using for example Westernblot, a turbidity assay or Tengblad assay. [86][87][88]

The noticed cell motility in the Dex/HA static cultures could be due to the properties and architecture of the hydrogel, enabling the cells to move through the different planes of the hydrogel. The higher density of Dex/HA 10wt% hydrogel results in a smaller mesh size with smaller pores with respect to Dex/HA 5wt%, according to the images obtained with SEM. A lower hydrogel density, resulting in a greater mesh size, makes it easier for chondrocytes to migrate and proper remodel the ECM. [89] Furthermore, SEM data has shown integration of microbeads in both Dex/HA hydrogels (**Figure 18-C**), but it was not performed for chondrocytes and agarose hydrogel. In addition, the droplet culture suggested that cells were starting to attach to Dex/HA hydrogel, differently from the appearance shown in agarose (**Appendix 12.4.8, Figure S.8**). Further elaboration on the integration of chondrocytes in the hydrogel network will be interesting and changes in membrane structure could give information about movement directionality, and could be investigated by tracking the formation of lamellipodia and filopodia, which are cytoskeletal proteins involved in cell migration. [17]

Our data shows migration of chondrocytes in static and dynamic conditions for both Dex/HA hydrogels with a directionality prevalence for the systems mechanically addressed. In the deep zones of the hydrogel section, close to the pillars, higher cell displacement was seen, with respect to the upper zone, close to the membrane (**Figure 27**). This could be due to the applied pressure, creating an attraction to the point of mechanical stimulation. Determining how the pressure affects the cell motility could be achieved by using a cartilage-on-chip device containing 3 mechanical stimulation chambers, which can be stimulated separately. By only applying pressure on the most right chamber, it should be hypothesized that the cells will move to the upper right corner. Further, the differences in displacement could be due to the removal of non-crosslinked polymers by medium injection, resulting in the hydrogel to become more soft, making it easier for cells to move in a greater extent. However, experiments using microbeads, following the same protocol, did not show movement under compression loading and daily medium application. Since the qPCR data suggests that the movement is related to the production of degradative enzymes, the bonds of the hydrogel network may be cut. The

degraded polymer parts in the deep zone of the hydrogel may thereafter be flushed away by medium change.

Multiple *in vivo* models showed the migration of cells to sites of extensive chondrocyte death or injury sites for tissue regeneration and repair. [90][91][92] *In vitro* cultured OA cartilage slices synthesized high levels of insulin growth factor-1 (IGF-1). IGF-1 is a chemoattractive factor released in traumatized cartilage, and induces a migratory response. In contrast, when OA tissue stimulation using IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  did negatively affect the cell migration, declaring the low regenerative potential of OA cartilage tissue. Measuring the gene expression of IGF-1 would provide information about the cause of cell motility; high levels of IGF-1 would suggest that the chondrocytes are sensing an injury-like stress. If the mobility is not, or in a lesser extent, seen after cytokine stimulation, this hypothesis would be confirmed. [92][93][94] However, according to gene expression of chondrogenic specific genes, it is not suspected that diseased chondrocytes were cultured in our Dex/HA hydrogel. More likely, the cell motility is related to the catabolic activity of the chondrocytes, but further research is required.

#### **Cell behavior**

Agarose 2%, Dex/HA 5wt% and Dex/HA 10wt% hydrogels were examined for human chondrocyte culture in both static and compressed conditions. The cell behavior was evaluated on viability, gene expression, and synthesis of cytokines and enzymes. The findings of chondrogenic-specific genes SOX9, ACAN, and PRG4 for both agarose cultures suggested the maintenance of the chondrogenic phenotype under mechanical loading (**Figure 33**), suggesting the avoiding of dedifferentiation. [95][96] Further, the 3 genes were expressed in all Dex/HA 5wt% conditions. For Dex/HA 5wt%, the expression of PRG4 was higher in static culture in comparison with its compression, questioning the distribution of compression load to the chondrocytes in Dex/HA 5wt%. The expression of SOX9 was significant comparable for both Dex/HA 5wt% and 10wt% static and compression conditions, suggesting a low influence of mechanical stimulation can improve the proliferation of chondrocytes. [95] It is known that cells do not proliferate when cultured in agarose. [37] Evaluating the proliferation capacities of Dex/HA chondrocytes should be considered, for example using an activity assay or by evaluating glycolysis-related factors at mRNA or protein level.

We noticed elevated levels of IL-6 in Dex/HA 5wt% static cultured chondrocytes, with respect to Dex/HA 5wt% compression condition and Dex/HA 10wt% and agarose cultures. Therefore, it was considered that the material choice can trigger the IL-6 synthesis. IL-6 measurements were performed using both SPR (protein level) and qPCR (mRNA level), showing both comparable trends between the conditions, suggesting that the expression at gene level is translated to the actual protein synthesis. Furthermore, highest overall MMP activity was measured for Dex/HA static cultured chondrocytes. The positive correlation between IL-6 and MMP synthesis in OA tissue was widely investigated, but was not seen in our data, suggesting that the synthesis of both was promoted by an external effect; e.g. the fibrous network of Dex/HA hydrogel. [97][98][99]

In addition, elevated levels of catabolic factors ADAMTSs and HYALs were determined in Dex/HA 5wt% static and compression cultures and Dex/HA 10wt% compression culture. The influence of hydrogel structure on chondrocytes culture was described in earlier research using PEG hydrogels. They proved that when cultured in a high density PEG hydrogel, catabolic factors, including MMP-1 and MMP-13, were highly elevated, with respect to lower hydrogel densities. It was suggested that the cells needed to break down the surrounding matrix to create

space for the formation of new matrix. [100][101] Relating this to the expression of both anabolic and catabolic factors by our Dex/HA chondrocytes, suggests that the chondrocytes are trying to remodel the scaffold. Higher catabolic activity in combination with a low degree of ECM deposition will result in softening of the matrix, altering the deformation capacities, influencing the cellular behavior, and the capacity for cell migration. [102] Hence, it would be of interest to determine the matrix production by staining the collagens, or to determine the GAG production over time using a GAG assay, a Safranin-O or DMMB dye, and determine the Collagen deposition using immunohistochemistry. [103][104] Furthermore, long-term experiments are required to investigate the long-term progress of cytokine and MMP synthesis and will provide a better understanding on the cell behavior and matrix production and degradation.

When comparing Dex/HA 5wt% and 10wt% hydrogels, Dex/HA 5wt% showed better deformation capacities and higher expression of chondrogenic-specific genes. Further differences rely on the expression of degradative enzymes, whereas ADAMTSs were higher expressed in Dex/HA 5wt%, presence of hyaluronidases was comparable, and MMP activity was elevated in Dex/HA 10wt%. It is important to determine whether the anabolic and catabolic factors are in balance before validating the hydrogel choice.

Dex/HA 5wt%	Dex/HA 10wt%	Agarose 2%
Deformation capacities ↓ • Bead displacement Chon. phenotype ↑ • SOX9 • ACAN • PRG4 Cell motility ↑ Catabolic activity ↑ • MMPs • HYALs • ADAMTSs	Deformation capacities ↓ <ul> <li>Bead displacement</li> <li>Chon. phenotype ↔</li> <li>SOX9</li> <li>ACAN</li> <li>PRG4</li> <li>Cell motility ↑</li> <li>Catabolic activity ↑</li> <li>MMPs</li> <li>HYALs</li> <li>ADAMTSs</li> </ul>	Deformation capacities ↑ • Bead displacement Chon. phenotype ↑ • SOX9 • ACAN • PRG4 Cell motility ↓ Catabolic activity ↓ • MMPs • HYALs • ADAMTSs

*Figure 60.* Overview of Dex/HA 5wt%, Dex/HA 10wt%, and agarose hydrogel behavior.  $\uparrow$ : upregulation,  $\leftrightarrow$ : comparable response,  $\downarrow$ : downregulation/no expression with respect to the other conditions.

### Influence of oxygen and temperature on chondrocyte culture Hypoxia effects

Human chondrocytes are able to live in a hypoxic environment, since the actual oxygen levels in cartilage tissue are low; from 6% in the superficial zone; to 1% in the deep zone. [63] The behavior of chondrocytes in a hypoxic culture  $(2,5\% O_2)$  was determined and compared to the conventional culture  $(20\% O_2)$ .

Earlier research described the production of HIF-1 $\alpha$  in a hypoxic environment, suggesting to enhance HSP70 and HSP90 synthesis, stimulate anabolic pathways, and reduce differentiation towards a hypertrophic phenotype. [69][105] When comparing the expression of chondrocytes cultured in hypoxia and normoxia conditions, we found upregulation of HIF-1 $\alpha$  in hypoxic cultures, but a low expression of HSP70. The exact mechanism of HSP70 regulation by HIF-1 $\alpha$  under hypoxic circumstances is unclear, their correlation and relation to the cartilagespecific genes should be further investigated. [60][63][68][69] Next, the promotion of the differentiated phenotype in hypoxia does not fully correlate to the SOX9 expression of our chondrocytes. Further investigations on chondrocyte-specific genes (ColII, ACAN, PRG4, ACAN) and hypertrophic-related genes (ColX) are necessary to determine the state of differentiation of the chondrocytes in a hypoxic environment. [105]

In addition, according to the PrestoBlue data and PKM2 gene expression, the cells were fully active and remained their energy homeostasis at low oxygen tensions. Research proved that the metabolic activity of chondrocytes in hypoxia is promoted by HSP70 synthesis. However, HSP70 was not expressed in our hypoxic chondrocytes, suggesting that the cell activity was initiated via another pathway. [63] The metabolic activity of chondrocytes could be further determined by measuring the glucose concentrations in culture medium, the ATP production, or by quantifying adenine nucleotides. [64][106][107]

#### **Temperature effects**

Another important characteristic of healthy knee cartilage tissue is its low temperature (32,6 °C), which can increase due to high intensity movements and disease. [53] We investigated the effects of a hypothermic (33 °C) and hyperthermic (39 °C) environment on human chondrocyte culture, in comparison to the conventional culture temperature (37 °C). It should be mentioned that the temperature experiments were performed at low oxygen tension (2,5% O<sub>2</sub>). Therefore, the obtained data might be affected by both temperature and oxygen. To determine which cellular behavior is due to temperature, due to oxygen tension, or due to amplification of both, additional experiments are required. We noticed that HIF-1 $\alpha$ , the transcription factor essential for chondrocyte survival in hypoxic circumstances, was temperature dependent and only synthesized in a small extent at 33 °C and 39 °C, but highly expressed in 37 °C hypoxic culture.

According to our data, the temperature influenced the cell viability and metabolic activity, by promoting cell death at 39 °C monolayer culture, which confirms that a high temperature environment promotes cartilage destruction. [62] It should be considered that the difference in cell viability at 39 °C affects the metabolic activity measurements. Further, the metabolic activity was altered at 33 °C, and 37 °C culture was most suitable for the cellular activity according PrestoBlue data. An impaired glucose metabolism can result in chondrocyte dedifferentiation, which is in line with our obtained gene expression for 39 °C culture; no expression of both SOX9 and COMP genes, but high expression of Collagen I. [108][109] This suggests that the chondroprotective origin of HSPs was not fully operating at 39 °C, but only at lowered temperature (33 °C). [60][61] The expression of chondrocyte-related genes (SOX9 and COMP) were upregulated at low temperature, suggesting that the activity of HSPs help restoring the cartilage homeostasis.

It should be noted that GAPDH was considered as housekeeping gene for all temperature and oxygen related experiments. Since GAPDH is a metabolic expression-related gene, which is temperature and oxygen dependent, it was not reliable as stable reference gene. High GAPDH expression for 33 °C chondrocytes did influence the  $\Delta$ CT values, indicating overall a lower expression for the measured genes (**Figure S.16**). However, the overall progress between the multiple conditions was considered sufficient. Beta2-microglobulin (B2M), human RNA polymerase II (RPII) Ribosomal protein L13a (RPL13A) were described as reliable and stable housekeeping genes under hypoxic circumstances for chondrocyte culture, and should be considered for future experiments. [35][110]

All chondrocytes were initially cultured in a conventional incubator, exposed to 20%  $O_2$  tension at 37 °C degrees, and shifted to the temperature of interest at the start of the experiment. The change in culture environment could trigger a stress response, resulting in synthesis of HSPs at 33 °C and 39 °C. It should be considered that an experiment with a duration of 3 days is not

adequate for chondrocytes to completely adapt to the culture environment and it is recommended to repeat the experiments by directly culturing them at the condition of interest. Besides, having the cells in culture for a longer period of time will give better insights about actual protein production, by detecting their presence using, for example, (immuno)histochemistry staining. [62][111][112]



*Figure 61.* Overview of hypoxia, and low and high temperature effects on chondrocyte monolayer culture.  $\uparrow$ : upregulation,  $\downarrow$ : downregulation/no expression with respect to conventional culture.

#### Cytokine effects

IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  are the major pro-inflammatory cytokines present in OA tissue. Both cytokines have a catabolic effect, inducing the synthesis of cartilage degrading enzymes and other pro-inflammatory mediators, resulting in cartilage degeneration. [28][113][114] Stimulation with pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  was proposed to trigger an inflammatory response in human chondrocytes, and their effects were evaluated for conventional cultures, and low and high temperatures under hypoxic circumstances. First, the influence of the cytokines will be discussed for the chondrocytes cultured in conventional culture (37 °C, 20% O<sub>2</sub>).

The cytokines did not influence the viability, but an increase in metabolic activity was found by both PrestoBlue and HK2 expression. HK2 was expressed in arthritis, and suggested to play a role in the regulation of pro-inflammatory mechanisms, disruption of cell proliferation and provoking cartilage degradation. [115][116] Since the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  are associated with cartilage degradation by stimulation of the synthesis and activity of degradative enzymes, future research should include the determination of catabolic factors, e.g. ADAMTSs and MMPs. The degradative properties of the cytokines initiate a reduce of the proteoglycan content in cartilage tissue. [117] Again, a Safranin-O staining or GAG assay would provide information about the effectivity of cartilage degeneration by IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$ stimulation. To determine the development and degeneration of the cartilage under stimulation of the cytokines, determining the presence of components of the WNT signaling pathway is an interesting addition. [113]

IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  are known to induce the loss of the chondrogenic phenotype, resulting in stimulation of hypertrophy and the initiation of a fibroblast-like dedifferentiation. On mRNA level, we determined upregulation of Collagen I under cytokine stimulation (**Appendix 12.5.7**). [118] However, more data regarding other markers for chondrogenic phenotype (ColII, ACAN, SOX9) and hypertrophy (ColX) are necessary to determine the state of differentiation. Earlier research already described that cytokines IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  are associated with the synthesis

of HSP70, e.g. in OA patients and in *in vitro* cultures. [79][119][120][121][122] In our conventional monolayer culture, cytokine stimulation resulted in an increased production of HSPs, confirming that the chondrocytes were conditioned under non-physiological stress.

Our data suggested that the influence of the cytokines is oxygen and temperature related. Cell viability was altered under stimulation in the hypoxic cultures. Further, the synthesis of HSP under cytokine stimulation was elevated at 33 °C. For 37 °C and 39 °C hypoxic cultures, Collagen I was highly upregulated under cytokine stimulation, with respect to the conventional cultures.

#### **Monolayer culture**

To investigate the effects of temperature, oxygen tension, and cytokine stimulation on human chondrocyte culture, the cells were cultured in a 2D system. Cell stretching was highly affected under low oxygen tension, resulting in an increase of contact surface area (**Figure 40**). The cell area was further increased at high temperature (39 °C) and was necessary for the maintenance of chondrocyte functionality. [123] Under stimulation of TNF– $\alpha$  and cytokine cocktail, the cell stretching was further enhanced, suggesting that the morphology of the cells is affected by TNF– $\alpha$ , temperature, and oxygen. The influence of inflammatory cytokines on cell morphology was described by Joos et al., showing a comparable change in cell morphology and cytoskeleton organization. [124] During this project, the seeding density for monolayer experiments was low, which could have influenced the behavior and adhesion of the cells due to low cell-cell contact. [125][126] However, we used the same seeding density for the conventional control culture, demonstrating a clear difference with respect to hypoxic cultured chondrocytes.

#### Pellet culture

Cell-cell interactions are important to create a culture model that is close to the *in vivo* situation. Therefore the human chondrocytes were cultured in a pellet culture, and examined for temperature, oxygen, and cytokine influence.

The formation of pellets was initiated by cell centrifuging at day 0, this new arrangement could have led to expression of HSP70 in the healthy conditions. HSP synthesis was stimulated under influence of inflammatory cytokines, which may have influenced the dis-aggregation of cytokine stimulated pellets over time. The de-clustering of the pellets was further enhanced under influence of both hypoxia and temperature (**Figure 42**). To explore what specific did affect the de-clustering, experiments only considering temperature, oxygen, or cytokines are required.

In chondrocyte 3D cultures the chondrogenic differentiated phenotype is stabilized by i.a. Cartilage Oligomeric Matrix Protein (COMP) expression, as shown in our 37 °C hypoxia and normoxia pellet cultures, with upregulation of COMP in comparison to the monolayer conditions. [127][128] Healthy pellets cultured at 33 °C presented the biggest perimeter after 3 days of culture. However, the metabolic activity of these chondrocytes was lowest, with respect to the other culture environments. Since the enhanced pellet size was presumably not due to cell proliferation, determining the synthesis of matrix components will give important insights on the pellet formation. According to earlier research, a culture temperature between 32 °C and 37 °C is optimal for extracellular matrix production by chondrocytes. [129] Our data indicated an increase in pellet size for 33 °C and 37 °C hypoxic cultures, suggesting the production of ECM components causing an increase in pellet size. To assess the matrix production, insights on pellet composition could be given using qPCR (for Collagen II and Aggrecan); GAG assay; (immuno)histochemistry staining for Collagen II and GAGs.

# 9. Conclusion

In this project, the potential of a hydrogel composed of dextran-tyramine and hyaluronic acidtyramine (Dex/HA) was tested for a dynamic cartilage-on-a-chip platform and compared to the currently used agarose hydrogel. Dex/HA chondrocytes resulted in great survival rates, cell morphology, and the expression of chondrocyte-specific markers. In Dex/HA hydrogels the mechanical loading was distributed in a lower extent with respect to agarose. In addition, Dex/HA culture was associated with increased levels of matrix-degrading enzymes. Present findings indicated cell motility in both static and dynamic cultures, but the movement has to be further investigated, to determine what environmental factors are causing this motility. Altogether, the use of Dex/HA 5wt% hydrogel offer a better representation of native cartilage, to study cell motility and both anabolic and catabolic processes, but for now, agarose offers a more reliable culture environment.

Secondly, the effects of temperature and oxygen level on *in vitro* chondrocyte culture were determined. Our results suggested that a culture temperature of 39 °C at 2,5% O<sub>2</sub> resulted in impaired metabolic activity, dedifferentiation, and high levels of cell death. Low temperature (33 °C), which is considered as the normal intra-articular temperature, resulted in maintenance of the chondrogenic phenotype, high metabolic activity and high viability. In addition, our data indicated that when cultured in 37 °C hypoxic environment, the cells retained their phenotype, induce cartilage development, and did not express a stress response. Taken together, the optimal culture condition for chondrocytes may be at low oxygen tension and a culture temperature between 33 °C and 37 °C.

The effects of cytokine administration on chondrocytes culture suggested that their influence is temperature and oxygen related and the highest effect was obtained in 33 °C and 37 °C hypoxic cultures, which offer insights for disease modelling. Cytokine administration resulted in enhanced cell contact area, metabolic activity and HSP and hexokinase production. Additional studies are required to better define the activation of matrix destruction and evaluate the complete inflammatory response.

## **10. Future perspectives**

In this study, several steps were taken to investigate the effects of the culture environment on chondrocytes, including hydrogel, temperature, oxygen, and pro-inflammatory cytokine administration. The use of a hydrogel that more closely mimics the native cartilage environment offers new possibilities to study the behavior of chondrocytes under different circumstances. Examining the matrix metabolism in both Dex/HA 5wt% and Dex/HA 10wt% is important to completely understand the cell motility and expression of degradative factors to determine if there is a balance between catabolic and anabolic factors. To obtain a hydrogel matrix that closely mimics the native cartilage structure, further improvements include the development of a hybrid hydrogel of Dex/HA with decellularized cartilage ECM, containing TA moieties.

By adjustment of temperature and oxygen conditions, a more realistic cartilage model can be created, making the system attractive for different cartilage research purposes. However, to determine the influence of a hyperthermic and hypothermic culture environment, it is required to repeat all experiments under normoxia circumstances. To further improve the temperature experiments, it is important that the cells are initially directly cultured at the temperature of interest, to avoid cell adaptation to conventional circumstances. Lastly, it should be considered that in this study only cells obtained from one individual were used. To generalize the findings, enlarged studies are required.

The use of a hydrogel that more closely mimics the native cartilage environment offers new possibilities to study the behavior of chondrocytes under different circumstances. By application of pro-inflammatory cytokines to the cartilage-on-chip culture, a combination of biochemical and mechanical stimuli can be proposed to offer a convenient platform for the study of cartilage degradation, diseases, drug development, and high-throughput drug screening.

## 11. References

- (Range of Motion (ROM) Knee Exercises for Pain & Arthritis'. [Online]. Available: https://www.peerwell.co/blog/2018/07/26/range-of-motion-knee-injury-exercises/.
   [Accessed: 24-Mar-2020].
- [2] P. S. R. Sreekanth and S. Kanagaraj, 'Wear of biomedical implants', in *Tribology for Scientists and Engineers: From Basics to Advanced Concepts*, vol. 9781461419457, Springer New York, 2013, pp. 657–674.
- [3] A. J. Sophia Fox, A. Bedi, and S. A. Rodeo, 'The basic science of articular cartilage: Structure, composition, and function', *Sports Health*, vol. 1, no. 6, pp. 461–468, Nov. 2009.
- [4] '9.4 Synovial Joints Anatomy and Physiology'. [Online]. Available: https://opentextbc.ca/anatomyandphysiology/chapter/9-4-synovial-joints/. [Accessed: 01-Apr-2020].
- [5] 'Articular Cartilage Kyriacos A. Athanasiou, Eric M. Darling, Jerry C. Hu, Grayson D. DuRaine, A. Hari Reddi - Google Books'. [Online]. Available: https://books.google.nl/books?id=Bn\_RBQAAQBAJ&pg=PA105&redir\_esc=y#v=onepa ge&q&f=false. [Accessed: 31-Mar-2020].
- Y. Wang, L. Wei, L. Zeng, D. He, and X. Wei, 'Nutrition and degeneration of articular cartilage', *Knee Surgery, Sport. Traumatol. Arthrosc.*, vol. 21, no. 8, pp. 1751–1762, Aug. 2013.
- [7] C. T. Wang, J. Lin, C. J. Chang, Y. T. Lin, and S. M. Hou, 'Therapeutic Effects of Hyaluronic Acid on Osteoarthritis of the Knee: A Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials', J. Bone Jt. Surg. - Ser. A, vol. 86, no. 3, pp. 538–545, 2004.
- [8] H. P. Bächinger, K. Mizuno, J. A. Vranka, and S. P. Boudko, 'Collagen formation and structure', in *Comprehensive Natural Products II: Chemistry and Biology*, vol. 5, Elsevier Ltd, 2010, pp. 469–530.
- [9] F. Horkay, 'Interactions of cartilage extracellular matrix macromolecules', J. Polym. Sci. Part B Polym. Phys., vol. 50, no. 24, pp. 1699–1705, 2012.
- [10] L. A. Setton, W. Gu, W. M. Lai, and V. C. Mow, 'Predictions of the Swelling-Induced Pre-Stress in Articular Cartilage', Springer, Dordrecht, 1996, pp. 299–320.
- [11] H. Akkiraju and A. Nohe, 'Role of Chondrocytes in Cartilage Formation, Progression of Osteoarthritis and Cartilage Regeneration'.
- [12] A. J. S. Fox, A. Bedi, and S. A. Rodeo, 'The Basic Science of Articular Cartilage: Structure, Composition, and Function', 2009.
- [13] T. I. Morales, 'Chondrocyte moves: clever strategies?', *Osteoarthr. Cartil.*, vol. 15, no. 8, pp. 861–871, Aug. 2007.
- [14] D. Eyre, 'Articular cartilage and changes in Arthritis: Collagen of articular cartilage | SpringerLink', *Arthritis Res. Ther.*, vol. 4, no. 30, 2001.
- [15] J. A. M. and J. A. Buckwalter, 'Aging, articular cartilage chondrocyte senescence and osteoarthritis', *Biogerontology*, vol. 3, pp. 257–264, 2992.
- [16] S. Alsalameh, R. Amin, T. Gemba, and M. Lotz, 'Identification of mesenchymal progenitor cells in normal and osteoarthritic human articular cartilage', Arthritis Rheum., vol. 50, no. 5, pp. 1522–1532, May 2004.
- [17] C. Chang, D. . Lauffenburger, and T. . Morales, 'Motile chondrocytes from newborn calf: migration properties and synthesis of collagen II', *Osteoarthr. Cartil.*, vol. 11, no. 8, pp. 603–612, Aug. 2003.
- [18] Z. Li, S. Yao, M. Alini, and S. Grad, 'Different response of articular chondrocyte

subpopulations to surface motion', *Osteoarthr. Cartil.*, vol. 15, no. 9, pp. 1034–1041, Sep. 2007.

- [19] J. Sanchez-Adams, H. A. Leddy, A. L. McNulty, C. J. O'Conor, and F. Guilak, 'The Mechanobiology of Articular Cartilage: Bearing the Burden of Osteoarthritis', *Current Rheumatology Reports*, vol. 16, no. 10. Current Medicine Group LLC 1, pp. 1–9, 01-Oct-2014.
- [20] A. Luria and C. R. Chu, 'Articular Cartilage Changes in Maturing Athletes', *Sport. Heal. A Multidiscip. Approach*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 18–30, Jan. 2014.
- [21] 'Rheumatoid Arthritis | Health Topics | NIAMS'. [Online]. Available: https://www.niams.nih.gov/health-topics/rheumatoid-arthritis. [Accessed: 31-Mar-2020].
- [22] 'Artrose | Cijfers & Context | Huidige situatie | Volksgezondheidenzorg.info'. [Online]. Available: https://www.volksgezondheidenzorg.info/onderwerp/artrose/cijferscontext/huidige-situatie#node-prevalentie-en-aantal-nieuwe-gevallen-van-artrosehuisartsenpraktijk. [Accessed: 31-Mar-2020].
- [23] M. B. Goldring and M. Otero, 'Inflammation in osteoarthritis', *Current Opinion in Rheumatology*, vol. 23, no. 5. pp. 471–478, Sep-2011.
- [24] D. Eyre, 'Collagen of articular cartilage', Arthritis Research & Therapy, 2001.
- [25] K. Y. Tsang, D. Chan, and K. S. E. Cheah, 'Fate of growth plate hypertrophic chondrocytes: Death or lineage extension?', *Dev. Growth Differ.*, vol. 57, no. 2, pp. 179– 192, Feb. 2015.
- [26] S. Glyn-Jones *et al.*, 'Osteoarthritis', in *The Lancet*, 2015, vol. 386, no. 9991, pp. 376–387.
- [27] S. R. G. and M. B. Goldring, 'Changes in the osteochondral unit during osteoarthritis: structure, function and cartilage-bone crosstalk', Nat. Rev. A. L. al. Sanchez-Adams, J., Leddy, H.A., McNulty, 'he Mechanobiol. Articul. Cartil. Bear. Burd. Osteoarthritis.', Curr. Rheumatol. Rep., vol. 16, p. 451, 2014. Rheumatol., vol. 12, p. 632, 2016.
- [28] E. Charlier *et al.*, 'Molecular Sciences Insights on Molecular Mechanisms of Chondrocytes Death in Osteoarthritis', 2016.
- [29] P. Garnero, 'Biochemical Markers of Osteoarthritis', in *Osteoarthritis: A Companion to Rheumatology*, Elsevier Inc., 2007, pp. 113–130.
- [30] R. D. Altman, A. Manjoo, A. Fierlinger, F. Niazi, and M. Nicholls, 'The mechanism of action for hyaluronic acid treatment in the osteoarthritic knee: A systematic review', *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, vol. 16, no. 1. BioMed Central Ltd., 26-Oct-2015.
- [31] B. J. Rose and D. L. Kooyman, 'A Tale of Two Joints: The Role of Matrix Metalloproteases in Cartilage Biology', *Dis. Markers*, vol. 2016, pp. 1–7, 2016.
- [32] T. Yasuda, 'Cartilage destruction by matrix degradation products', *Mod. Rheumatol.*, vol. 16, no. 4, pp. 197–205, Aug. 2006.
- [33] C. A. Paggi, B. Venzac, M. Karperien, J. C. H. Leijten, and S. Le Gac, 'Monolithic microfluidic platform for exerting gradients of compression on cell-laden hydrogels, and application to a model of the articular cartilage', *Sensors Actuators, B Chem.*, vol. 315, p. 127917, Jul. 2020.
- [34] T. J. M. W. M.M.J.Caron, P.J.Emans, M.M.E.Coolsen, L.Voss, D.A.M.Surtel, A.Cremers, L.W.van Rhijn, 'Redifferentiation of dedifferentiated human articular chondrocytes: comparison of 2D and 3D cultures', *Osteoarthr. Cartil.*, vol. 20, no. 10, 2012.
- [35] H. K. Akira Ito, Momoko Nagai, Junichi Tajino, Shoki Yamaguchi, Hirotaka Iijima, Xiangkai Zhang, Tomoki Aoyama, 'Culture Temperature Affects Human Chondrocyte Messenger

RNA Expression in Monolayer and Pellet Culture Systems', PLoS One, 2015.

- [36] E. Knight and S. Przyborski, 'Advances in 3D cell culture technologies enabling tissuelike structures to be created in vitro', *Journal of Anatomy*, vol. 227, no. 6. Blackwell Publishing Ltd, pp. 746–756, 01-Dec-2015.
- [37] A. Karim and A. C. Hall, 'Chondrocyte Morphology in Stiff and Soft Agarose Gels and the Influence of Fetal Calf Serum', *J. Cell. Physiol.*, vol. 232, no. 5, pp. 1041–1052, May 2017.
- [38] H. A. Awad, M. Q. Wickham, H. A. Leddy, J. M. Gimble, and F. Guilak, 'Chondrogenic differentiation of adipose-derived adult stem cells in agarose, alginate, and gelatin scaffolds', *Biomaterials*, vol. 25, no. 16, pp. 3211–3222, Jul. 2004.
- [39] P. D. Benya and J. D. Shaffer, 'Dedifferentiated chondrocytes reexpress the differentiated collagen phenotype when cultured in agarose gels', *Cell*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 215–224, Aug. 1982.
- [40] M. D. Buschmann, Y. A. Gluzband, A. J. Grodzinsky, J. H. Kimura, and E. B. Hunziker, 'Chondrocytes in agarose culture synthesize a mechanically functional extracellular matrix', J. Orthop. Res., vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 745–758, Nov. 1992.
- [41] R. L. Mauck *et al.*, 'Functional tissue engineering of articular cartilage through dynamic loading of chondrocyte-seeded agarose gels', *J. Biomech. Eng.*, vol. 122, no. 3, pp. 252– 260, Jun. 2000.
- [42] J. Chang and C. A. Poole, 'Sequestration of type VI collage in the pericellular microenvironment of adult chondrocytes cultured in agarose', *Osteoarthr. Cartil.*, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 275–285, Dec. 1996.
- [43] Z. Miao *et al.*, 'Collagen, agarose, alginate, and Matrigel hydrogels as cell substrates for culture of chondrocytes in vitro: A comparative study', *J. Cell. Biochem.*, vol. 119, no. 10, pp. 7924–7933, Oct. 2018.
- [44] R. Tuvikene, K. Truus, A. Kollist, O. Volobujeva, E. Mellikov, and T. Pehk, 'Gel-forming structures and stages of red algal galactans of different sulfation levels', *J. Appl. Phycol.*, vol. 20, no. 5, pp. 527–535, Oct. 2008.
- [45] L. S. Moreira Teixeira, J. Feijen, C. A. van Blitterswijk, P. J. Dijkstra, and M. Karperien, 'Enzyme-catalyzed crosslinkable hydrogels: Emerging strategies for tissue engineering', *Biomaterials*, vol. 33, no. 5. Biomaterials, pp. 1281–1290, Feb-2012.
- [46] R. Jin, L. S. Moreira Teixeira, P. J. Dijkstra, C. A. Van Blitterswijk, M. Karperien, and J. Feijen, 'Chondrogenesis in injectable enzymatically crosslinked heparin/dextran hydrogels', J. Control. Release, vol. 152, no. 1, pp. 186–195, May 2011.
- [47] R. Jin *et al.*, 'Enzymatically crosslinked dextran-tyramine hydrogels as injectable scaffolds for cartilage tissue engineering', *Tissue Eng. Part A*, vol. 16, no. 8, pp. 2429–2440, Aug. 2010.
- [48] K. S. Kim *et al.*, 'Injectable hyaluronic acid-tyramine hydrogels for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis', *Acta Biomater.*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 666–674, Feb. 2011.
- [49] J. W. H. Wennink *et al.*, 'Injectable Hydrogels by Enzymatic Co-Crosslinking of Dextran and Hyaluronic Acid Tyramine Conjugates', *Macromol. Symp.*, vol. 309–310, no. 1, pp. 213–221, Dec. 2011.
- [50] S. K. Seidlits *et al.*, 'The effects of hyaluronic acid hydrogels with tunable mechanical properties on neural progenitor cell differentiation', *Biomaterials*, vol. 31, no. 14, pp. 3930–3940, May 2010.
- [51] A. Darr and A. Calabro, 'Synthesis and characterization of tyramine-based hyaluronan hydrogels', *J. Mater. Sci. Mater. Med.*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 33–44, Jan. 2009.
- [52] T. M. Shalakhmetova, B. A. Umbayev, S. Z. Kolumbayeva, and B. N. Kudryavtsev, 'About

mechanisms of formation of multinuclear hepatocytes during toxic action of Nnitrosodimethylamine on rats', *Cell tissue biol.*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 61–70, Mar. 2009.

- [53] G. C. and H. H. P. Christoph Becher, Jan Springer, Sven Feil, 'Intra-articular temperatures of the knee in sports An in-vivo study of jogging and alpine skiing', *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*, vol. 9, p. 46, 2008.
- [54] C. L. Yves Henrotin, 'Targeting the synovial angiogenesis as a novel treatment approach to osteoarthritis', *Ther. Adv. Musculoskelet. Dis.*, vol. 6, pp. 20–34, 2014.
- [55] P. I. M. & D. A. Walsh, 'Mechanisms and targets of angiogenesis and nerve growth in osteoarthritis', *Nat. Rev. Rheumatol.*, vol. 8, pp. 390–398, 2012.
- [56] K. Ammer, 'Temperature of the human knee A review', *Thermology International*, Oct-2012.
   [Online].
   Available: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/239730228\_Temperature\_of\_the\_human\_knee\_-\_A\_review. [Accessed: 28-Sep-2020].
- [57] L. Marshall, 'The Temperature-Dependent Mechanics of Human Articular Cartilage Under Large-Strain Shear', 2019.
- [58] M. Segale, 'The temperature of acutely inflamed peripheral tissue', *J. Exp. Med.*, vol. 29, no. 3, pp. 235–249, 1919.
- [59] M.-P. Flour, X. Ronot, F. Vincent, B. Benoit, and M. Adolphe, 'Differential temperature sensitivity of cultured cells from cartilaginous or bone origin', *Biol. Cell*, vol. 75, no. 1, pp. 83–87, 1992.
- [60] D. A. Sawatzky, R. Foster, M. P. Seed, and D. A. Willoughby, 'Heat-shock proteins and their role in chondrocyte protection, an application for autologous transplantation', *Inflammopharmacology*, vol. 12, no. 5–6, pp. 569–589, Jan. 2005.
- [61] K. Kaarniranta *et al.*, 'Hsp70 accumulation in chondrocytic cells exposed to high continuous hydrostatic pressure coincides with mRNA stabilization rather than transcriptional activation', *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*, vol. 95, no. 5, pp. 2319–2324, Mar. 1998.
- [62] A. ITO *et al.*, 'Effects of the Thermal Environment on Articular Chondrocyte Metabolism: A Fundamental Study to Facilitate Establishment of an Effective Thermotherapy for Osteoarthritis', *J. Japanese Phys. Ther. Assoc.*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 14–21, 2014.
- [63] M. J. Grimshaw and R. M. Mason, 'Bovine articular chondrocyte function in vitro depends upon oxygen tension', *Osteoarthr. Cartil.*, vol. 8, no. 5, pp. 386–392, Sep. 2000.
- [64] X. Huang, L. Zhong, J. Hendriks, J. N. Post, and M. Karperien, 'Different Response of Human Chondrocytes From Healthy Looking Areas and Damaged Regions to IL1b Stimulation Under Different Oxygen Tension'.
- [65] B. K. C Domm, M Schünke, K Christesen, 'Redifferentiation of dedifferentiated bovine articular chondrocytes in alginate culture under low oxygen tension', *Osteoarthr. Cartil.*, vol. 10, no. 1, 2002.
- [66] and M. K. Jeroen C. H. Leijten, Liliana S. Moreira Teixeira, Ellie B. M. Landman, Clemens A. van Blitterswijk, 'Hypoxia Inhibits Hypertrophic Differentiation and Endochondral Ossification in Explanted Tibiae', *PLoS One*, vol. 7, no. 11, 2012.
- [67] and T. S. Kozo Morita, Takeshi Miyamoto, Nobuyuki Fujita, 1, 2 Yoshiaki Kubota, 1 Keisuke Ito, 1 Keiyo Takubo, Kana Miyamoto, Ken Ninomiya, Toru Suzuki, Ryotaro Iwasaki, Mitsuru Yagi, Hironari Takaishi, Yoshiaki Toyama, 'Reactive oxygen species induce chondrocyte hypertrophy in endochondral ossification', *J Exp Med.*, vol. 204, no. 7, 2007.
- [68] C. B. Foldager et al., 'Combined 3D and hypoxic culture improves cartilage-specific gene

expression in human chondrocytes', Acta Orthop., vol. 82, no. 2, pp. 234–240, Apr. 2011.

- [69] S. Tsuchida *et al.*, 'HIF-1α-induced HSP70 regulates anabolic responses in articular chondrocytes under hypoxic conditions', *J. Orthop. Res.*, vol. 32, no. 8, pp. 975–980, Aug. 2014.
- [70] A. L. et al. Sanchez-Adams, J., Leddy, H.A., McNulty, 'The Mechanobiology of Articular Cartilage: Bearing the Burden of Osteoarthritis.', *Curr. Rheumatol. Rep.*, vol. 16, p. 451, 2014.
- [71] L. M. Loening AM, James IE, Levenston ME, Badger AM, Frank EH, Kurz B, Nuttall ME, Hung HH, Blake SM, Grodzinsky AJ, 'Injurious mechanical compression of bovine articular cartilage induces chondrocyte apoptosis', *Arch Biochem Biophys.*, vol. 15, no. 381, p. 205, 2000.
- [72] S. Maniwa, M. Ochi, T. Motomura, T. Nishikori, J. Chen, and H. Naora, 'Effects of hyaluronic acid and basic fibroblast growth factor on motility of chondrocytes and synovial cells in culture', *Acta Orthop. Scand.*, vol. 72, no. 3, pp. 299–303, Jan. 2001.
- [73] S. R. Frenkel, R. M. Clancy, J. L. Ricci, P. E. di Cesare, J. J. Rediske, and S. B. Abramson, 'Effects of nitric oxide on chondrocyte migration, adhesion, and cytoskeletal assembly', *Arthritis Rheum.*, vol. 39, no. 11, pp. 1905–1912, Nov. 1996.
- [74] M. D. R. G Fibbi, M Pucci, U Serni, M M Cerinic, 'Antisense targeting of the urokinase receptor blocks urokinase-dependent proliferation, chemoinvasion, and chemotaxis of human synovial cells and chondrocytes in vitro', *Proc Assoc Am Physicians*, vol. 110, no. 4, pp. 340–350, 1998.
- [75] A. Gosiewska *et al.*, 'Development of a Three-Dimensional Transmigration Assay for Testing Cell–Polymer Interactions for Tissue Engineering Applications', *Tissue Eng.*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 267–277, Jun. 2001.
- [76] L. Zhong, 'Joint players: endogenous WNT antagonists determine joint health', Enschede, 2016.
- [77] E. B. M. Landman, R. L. Miclea, C. A. van Blitterswijk, and M. Karperien, 'Small molecule inhibitors of WNT/β-catenin signaling block IL-1β- and TNFα-induced cartilage degradation', Arthritis Res. Ther., vol. 15, no. 4, p. R93, Aug. 2013.
- [78] T. Yuasa, T. Otani, T. Koike, M. Iwamoto, and M. Enomoto-Iwamoto, 'Wnt/b-catenin signaling stimulates matrix catabolic genes and activity in articular chondrocytes: its possible role in joint degeneration', *Lab. Investig.* /, vol. 88, pp. 264–274, 2008.
- [79] M. A. Kabalyk, 'Age-Related Aspects of the Involvement of Heat Shock Proteins in the Pathogenesis of Osteoarthritis', *Adv. Gerontol.*, vol. 7, pp. 276–280, 2018.
- [80] B. G. Min-Fu Tsan, 'Cytokine function of heat shock proteins', *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol.*, vol. 4, 2004.
- [81] C. A. Paggi, 'Development of a microfluidic platform to mimic the mechanical stimuli applied to articular cartilage', University of Twente, 2018.
- [82] F. Scientific, 'Dopamine hydrochloride, 99%'. [Online]. Available: https://www.fishersci.se/shop/products/dopamine-hydrochloride-99-3/p-7081241. [Accessed: 18-Jan-2021].
- [83] 'Cartilage on chip using microfluidic pressure controller | Fluigent'. [Online]. Available: https://www.fluigent.com/applications/cartilage-on-chip-using-microfluidic-pressurecontroller/. [Accessed: 22-May-2020].
- [84] J. Hendriks, I. Stojanovic, R. B. M. Schasfoort, D. B. F. Saris, and M. Karperien, 'Nanoparticle Enhancement Cascade for Sensitive Multiplex Measurements of

Biomarkers in Complex Fluids with Surface Plasmon Resonance Imaging', Anal. Chem., vol. 90, no. 11, pp. 6563–6571, Jun. 2018.

- [85] P. Xue *et al.*, 'Surface Modification of Poly(dimethylsiloxane) with Polydopamine and Hyaluronic Acid To Enhance Hemocompatibility for Potential Applications in Medical Implants or Devices', 2017.
- [86] J.-M. Song, J.-H. Im, J.-H. Kang, and D.-J. Kang, 'A simple method for hyaluronic acid quantification in culture broth', *Carbohydr. Polym.*, vol. 78, no. 3, pp. 633–634, Oct. 2009.
- [87] C. R. Roberts, P. J. Roughley, and J. S. Mort, 'Degradation of human proteoglycan aggregate induced by hydrogen peroxide. Protein fragmentation, amino acid modification and hyaluronic acid cleavage', *Biochem. J.*, vol. 259, no. 3, pp. 805–811, May 1989.
- [88] S. Loffek, O. Schilling, and C.-W. Franzke, 'Biological role of matrix metalloproteinases: a critical balance', *Eur. Respir. J.*, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. 191–208, Jul. 2011.
- [89] M. B. C.-P. Yunxiao Liu, 'Hydrogel based on interpenetrating polymer networks of dextran andgelatin for vascular tissue engineering', *Biomaterials*, vol. 30, 2009.
- [90] D. Seol *et al.*, 'Chondrogenic progenitor cells respond to cartilage injury', *Arthritis Rheum.*, vol. 64, no. 11, pp. 3626–3637, Nov. 2012.
- [91] R. Palumbo *et al.*, 'Cells migrating to sites of tissue damage in response to the danger signal HMGB1 require NF-κB activation', *J. Cell Biol.*, vol. 179, no. 1, pp. 33–40, Oct. 2007.
- [92] H. Joos, A. Wildner, C. Hogrefe, H. Reichel, and R. E. Brenner, 'Interleukin-1 beta and tumor necrosis factor alpha inhibit migration activity of chondrogenic progenitor cells from non-fibrillated osteoarthritic cartilage', *Arthritis Res. Ther.*, vol. 15, no. 5, p. R119, 2013.
- [93] S. Onuora, 'PBMCs stimulate chondrocyte migration and cartilage repair', *Nat. Rev. Rheumatol.*, vol. 11, no. 563, 2015.
- [94] N. Hopper, F. Henson, R. Brooks, E. Ali, N. Rushton, and J. Wardale, 'Peripheral blood derived mononuclear cells enhance osteoarthritic human chondrocyte migration', *Arthritis Res. Ther.*, vol. 17, no. 1, p. 199, Dec. 2015.
- [95] X. Ouyang, Y. Xie, and G. Wang, 'Mechanical stimulation promotes the proliferation and the cartilage phenotype of mesenchymal stem cells and chondrocytes co-cultured in vitro', *Biomed. Pharmacother.*, vol. 117, p. 109146, Sep. 2019.
- [96] R. H. J. Das, H. Jahr, J. A. N. Verhaar, J. C. van der Linden, G. J. V. M. van Osch, and H. Weinans, 'In vitro expansion affects the response of chondrocytes to mechanical stimulation', *Osteoarthr. Cartil.*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 385–391, Mar. 2008.
- [97] C. R. S. Jason Lieberthal, Nisha Sambamurthy, 'Inflammation in Joint Injury and Post-Traumatic Osteoarthritis', *Osteoarthr. Cartil.*, vol. 23, no. 11, pp. 1825–1834, 2015.
- [98] W. M. Salter DM, Millward-Sadler SJ, Nuki G, 'Differential responses of chondrocytes from normal and osteoarthritic human articular cartilage to mechanical stimulation.', *Biorheology*, vol. 39, pp. 97–108, 2002.
- [99] M. Laavola *et al.*, 'IL-6 in Osteoarthritis: Effects of Pine Stilbenoids', *Molecules*, vol. 24, no. 1, p. 109, Dec. 2018.
- [100] G. D. Nicodemus, S. C. Skaalure, and S. J. Bryant, 'Gel structure has an impact on pericellular and extracellular matrix deposition, which subsequently alters metabolic activities in chondrocyte-laden PEG hydrogels', *Acta Biomater.*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 492– 504, Feb. 2011.

- [101] A. J. Engler, S. Sen, H. L. Sweeney, and D. E. Discher, 'Matrix Elasticity Directs Stem Cell Lineage Specification', *Cell*, vol. 126, no. 4, pp. 677–689, Aug. 2006.
- [102] G. D. Nicodemus and S. J. Bryant, 'Mechanical loading regimes affect the anabolic and catabolic activities by chondrocytes encapsulated in PEG hydrogels', Osteoarthr. Cartil., vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 126–137, Jan. 2010.
- [103] J.-L. Chen, L. Duan, W. Zhu, J. Xiong, and D. Wang, 'Extracellular matrix production in vitro in cartilage tissue engineering', *J. Transl. Med.*, vol. 12, no. 1, p. 88, 2014.
- [104] B. V. Sridhar, J. L. Brock, J. S. Silver, J. L. Leight, M. A. Randolph, and K. S. Anseth, 'Development of a Cellularly Degradable PEG Hydrogel to Promote Articular Cartilage Extracellular Matrix Deposition', *Adv. Healthc. Mater.*, vol. 4, no. 5, pp. 702–713, Apr. 2015.
- [105] J. Me, E. Lafont, S. Talma, C. Hopfgarten, and C. L. Murphy, 'Hypoxia Promotes the Differentiated Human Articular Chondrocyte Phenotype through SOX9-dependent andindependent Pathways \*', 2007.
- [106] R. H. J. Das, G. J. V. M. van Osch, M. Kreukniet, J. Oostra, H. Weinans, and H. Jahr, 'Effects of individual control of pH and hypoxia in chondrocyte culture', J. Orthop. Res., vol. 28, no. 4, pp. 537–545, Apr. 2010.
- [107] R. Rajpurohit, C. J. Koch, Z. Tao, C. M. Teixeira, and I. M. Shapiro, 'Adaptation of chondrocytes to low oxygen tension: Relationship between hypoxia and cellular metabolism', J. Cell. Physiol., vol. 168, no. 2, pp. 424–432, Aug. 1996.
- [108] A. L. Stevens, J. S. Wishnok, D. H. Chai, A. J. Grodzinsky, and S. R. Tannenbaum, 'A sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis-liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry analysis of bovine cartilage tissue response to mechanical compression injury and the inflammatory cytokines tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  and interleukin-1 $\beta$ ', *Arthritis Rheum.*, vol. 58, no. 2, pp. 489–500, Feb. 2008.
- [109] K.-W. Ko et al., 'Down-Regulation of Transglutaminase 2 Stimulates Redifferentiation of Dedifferentiated Chondrocytes through Enhancing Glucose Metabolism', Int. J. Mol. Sci., vol. 18, no. 11, p. 2359, Nov. 2017.
- [110] C. Foldager, S. Munir, M. Ulrik-Vinther, K. Søballe, C. Bünger, and M. Lind, 'Validation of suitable house keeping genes for hypoxia-cultured human chondrocytes', *BMC Mol. Biol.*, vol. 10, no. 1, p. 94, 2009.
- [111] R. S. J. Ernestina Schipani, Heather E. Ryan, Susanna Didrickson, Tatsuya Kobayashi, Melissa Knight, 'Hypoxia in cartilage: HIF-1α is essential for chondrocyte growth arrest and survival', Genes Dev., vol. 15, no. 21, pp. 2865–2876, 2001.
- [112] S. Yalçin, H. B. Molayoglu, M. Baka, O. Genin, and M. Pines, 'Effect of Temperature During the Incubation Period on Tibial Growth Plate Chondrocyte Differentiation and the Incidence of Tibial Dyschondroplasia', *Poult. Sci.*, vol. 86, no. 8, pp. 1772–1783, Aug. 2007.
- [113] J. N. P. & M. K. Bin Ma, Ellie B. M. Landman, Razvan L. Miclea, Jan M. Wit, Els C. Robanus-Maandag, 'WNT Signaling and Cartilage: Of Mice and Men', *Calcif. Tissue Int.*, vol. 92, pp. 399–411, 2013.
- [114] F. Z. Zsuzsa Jenei, Lanzl Andrea Meurer, 'Interleukin-1β signaling in osteoarthritis chondrocytes in focus', *Cell. Signal.*, vol. 53, no. 212–223, 2019.
- [115] M. G. Marta F Bustamante, Patricia G Oliveira, Ricard Garcia-Carbonell, Adam P Croft, Jeff M Smith, Ramon L Serrano, Elsa Sanchez-Lopez, Xiao Liu, Tatiana Kisseleva Nissim Hay, Christopher D Buckley, Gary S Firestein, Anne N Murphy, Shigeki Miyamoto, 'Hexokinase 2 as a novel selective metabolic target for rheumatoid arthritis', Ann.

*Rheum. Dis.*, vol. 77, no. 11, 2018.

- [116] G. Song *et al.*, 'Inhibition of hexokinases holds potential as treatment strategy for rheumatoid arthritis', *Arthritis Res. Ther.*, vol. 21, no. 1, p. 87, Dec. 2019.
- [117] F. J. B. M.J. López-Armada, B. Caramés, M.A. Martín, B. Cillero-Pastor, M. Lires-Dean, I. Fuentes-Boquete, J. Arenas, 'Mitochondrial activity is modulated by TNFα and IL-1β in normal human chondrocyte cells', *Osteoarthr. Cartil.*, vol. 14, no. 10, pp. 1011–1022, 2006.
- [118] C. T. G. Appleton, S. E. Usmani, S. M. Bernier, T. Aigner, and F. Beier, 'Transforming growth factor α suppression of articular chondrocyte phenotype andSox9 expression in a rat model of osteoarthritis', *Arthritis Rheum.*, vol. 56, no. 11, pp. 3693–3705, Nov. 2007.
- [119] H. W. Michiel Siebelt, Holger Jahr, Harald C Groen, Marjan Sandker, Jan H Waarsing, Nicole Kops, Cristina Müller, Willem van Eden, Marion de Jong, 'Hsp90 inhibition protects against biomechanically induced osteoarthritis in rats', Arthritis Rheum., vol. 65, no. 8, 2013.
- [120] S. H. Srihatach Ngarmukos, Shaun Scaramuzza, Nipaporn Theerawattanapong, Aree Tanavalee, 'Circulating and Synovial Fluid Heat Shock Protein 70 Are Correlated with Severity in Knee Osteoarthritis', *SAGE journals*, vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 323–328, 2018.
- [121] G. Schett *et al.*, 'Enhanced expression of heat shock protein 70 (hsp70) and heat shock factor 1 (HSF1) activation in rheumatoid arthritis synovial tissue. Differential regulation of hsp70 expression and hsf1 activation in synovial fibroblasts by proinflammatory cytokines, s', J. Clin. Invest., vol. 102, no. 2, pp. 302–311, Jul. 1998.
- [122] K. Takahashi *et al.*, 'Analysis of heat shock proteins and cytokines expressed during early stages of osteoarthritis in a mouse model', *Osteoarthr. Cartil.*, vol. 5, no. 5, pp. 321– 329, Sep. 1997.
- [123] M. Vogler *et al.*, 'Hypoxia Modulates Fibroblastic Architecture, Adhesion and Migration: A Role for HIF-1α in Cofilin Regulation and Cytoplasmic Actin Distribution', *PLoS One*, vol. 8, no. 7, p. e69128, Jul. 2013.
- [124] H. Joos, W. Albrecht, S. Laufer, H. Reichel, and R. E. Brenner, 'IL-1β regulates FHL2 and other cytoskeleton-related genes in human chondrocytes', *Mol. Med.*, vol. 14, no. 3–4, pp. 150–159, Mar. 2008.
- [125] W.-H. Chen *et al.*, 'In vitro stage-specific chondrogenesis of mesenchymal stem cells committed to chondrocytes', *Arthritis Rheum.*, vol. 60, no. 2, pp. 450–459, Feb. 2009.
- [126] B. Cao, Z. Li, R. Peng, and J. Ding, 'Effects of cell–cell contact and oxygen tension on chondrogenic differentiation of stem cells', *Biomaterials*, vol. 64, pp. 21–32, Sep. 2015.
- [127] F. ZAUCKE, R. DINSER, P. MAURER, and M. PAULSSON, 'Cartilage oligomeric matrix protein (COMP) and collagen IX are sensitive markers for the differentiation state of articular primary chondrocytes', *Biochem. J.*, vol. 358, no. 1, p. 17, Aug. 2001.
- [128] H. Haleem-Smith, R. Calderon, Y. Song, R. S. Tuan, and F. H. Chen, 'Cartilage oligomeric matrix protein enhances matrix assembly during chondrogenesis of human mesenchymal stem cells', J. Cell. Biochem., vol. 113, no. 4, pp. 1245–1252, Apr. 2012.
- [129] A. Ito *et al.*, 'Optimum temperature for extracellular matrix production by articular chondrocytes', *Int. J. Hyperth.*, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 96–101, Mar. 2014.

# 12. Appendix

### 12.1. Medium composition

Table S.1. Medium composition for chondrocyte proliferation medium (CPM).

DMEM	500 mL
FBS 10%	60 mL
Ascorbic acid 2-phosphate	5,8 mL
Penicillin-Streptomycin	5,8 mL
Non-essential amino acid	5,8 mL
Proline	5,8 mL

Table S.2. Medium composition for chondrocyte differentiation medium (CDM).

DMEM	500 mL
Penicillin-Streptomycin	1 mL
Insulin-Transferrin-Selenium mix	1 mL
Proline	1 mL
Ascorbic acid 2-phosphate	1 mL
Sodium Pyruvate	1 mL
TGF- <b>β</b>	250 uL
Dexamethasone	500 uL

## 12.2. Primer sequences for qPCR

|--|

	Forward	Reverse
GAPDH	CGCTCTCTGCTCCTCCTGTT	CCATGGTGTCTGAGCGATGT
ACTB	ACTCTTCCAGCCTTCCTTC	GATGTCCACGTCACACTTC
ColIaI	GTCACCCACCGACCAAGAAACC	AAGTCCAGGCTGTCCAGGGATG
ColIIaI	CGTCCAGATGACCTTCCTACG	TGAGCAGGGCCTTCTTGAG
ColXaI	GCAACTAAGGGCCTCAATGG	CTCAGGCATGACTGCTTGAC
SOX9	TGGGCAAGCTCTGGAGACTTC	ATCCGGGTGGTCCTTCTTGTG
COMP	CAACTGTCCCCAGAAGAGCAA	TGGTAGCCAAAGATGATGAAGCCC
PRG4	GATGCAGGGTACCCCAAA	CAGACTTTGGATAAGGTCTGCC
ACAN	AGGCAGCGTGATCCTTACC	GGCCTCTCCAGTCTCATTCTC
FHL2	GGTACCCGCAAGATGGAGTA	TTTGGGGATGAAACTCTTGG
IL-6	GGCACTGGCAGAAAACAACC	GCAAGTCTCCTCATTGAATCC
IL-1β	TCCCCAGCCCTTTTGTTGA	TTAGAACCAAATGTGGCCGTG
Ki-67	CTACGGATTATACCTGGCCTTCC	AGGAAGCTGGATACGGATGTCA
MMP-1	CCAGCAGGAGCAGTTGGTCTT	GGGCCTGGTTGAAAAGCAT
MMP-3	TGGCATTCAGTCCCTCTATGG	AGGACAAAGCAGGATCACAGTT
MMP-9	GGTGATTGACGACGCCTTTGC	CCAGCAGGAGCAGTTGGTCTTC
MMP-13	AAGGAGCATGGCGACTTCT	TGGCCCAGGAGGAAAAGC
ADAMTS-4	CAAGGTCCCATGTGCAACGT	CATCTGCCACCACCAGTGTCT
ADAMTS-5	TGGCTCACGAAATCGGACA	GGAACCAAAGGTCTCTTCACAGA
HYAL-1	CCAGAATGCCAGCCTGATGCC	GTCATTTTGGGCACGGATGCC
HYAL-2	GGCACAATATGAGTTTGAGTTCGC	TTGAGGTACTGGCAGGTCTCCG
HYAL-3	CATTTTCTACAAGAACCAACTCGGCC	CCAATGCAGTTGAGTGTTGCGG
HIF1a	TGCTCATCAGTTGCCACTTC	TGGGCCATTTCTGTGTGTAA
GDF10	AAGACCGCAAGAAGAAGAACCA	TCCAGCACAGTAGTAGGCATCAA
GLUT1	GGTTGTGCCATACTCATGACC	CAGATAGGACATCCAGGGTAGC
HK2	TCCCCTGCCACCAGACTA	TGGACTTGAATCCCTTGGTC
PKM2	CGTCTGAACTTCTCTCATGGAA	ATGGGGTCAGAAGCAAAGC
FN1	AAACTTGCATCTGGAGGCAAACCC	AGCTCTGATCAGCATGGACCACTT

### 12.3. Requirements chondrocyte in vitro model

A model for chondrocyte *in vitro* culture requires to mimic the unique characteristics of articular cartilage tissue, including its structure, physiological conditions, and dynamic environment (**Table S.4**). [33]

Functionalities	Specification	
Healthy model		
3D chondrocyte culture	Hydrogel, pellet or organoid, with ability to migrate	
Native-like environment	ECM components; natural or synthetic	
Nutrient supply	Through diffusion	
Mechanical stimulation	Physiological loading	
Physiological culture conditions	Temperature and oxygen	
Disease model		
Mechanical stimulation	Hyper physiological loading	
Inflammation	Application of inflammatory cytokines	
Drug testing	Application of drugs	

 Table S.4. Requirements cartilage in vitro model, healthy and diseased.

## 12.4. Additional data: Hydrogel testing

#### 12.4.1. SEM images



*Figure S.1.* Addition SEM images of Dex/HA 5wt% (A) and Dex/HA 10wt% (B), performed by Malin Becker.

#### 12.4.2. Crosslinking

Hydrophobic crosslinked tyramine moieties were stained red using ethidium homodimer (**Figure S.2**). Hydrogel showed no dark spots, indicating evenly distributed crosslinking of the gel. The staining was not performed for agarose and non-crosslinked gel, therefore the staining cannot be compared with a negative control.



**Figure S.2.** Crosslinking of Dex/HA 10wt% hydrogel with 15 µm beads embedded, using ethidium homodimer for staining of crosslinked tyramines (A) and the transmitted image of the same section (B). Scalebars: 200 µm.
## 12.4.3. Hydrogel characterization



*Figure S.3. Bright-field images of Dex/HA 5wt% at day 0 (A) and day 3 (B) for the compression condition. C) Overlay for day 0 (in green) and day 3 (in red). D) Higher magnification for three zones. Scalebars: 250 µm.* 



*Figure S.4.* Deformation of agarose, Dex/HA 5wt% and Dex/HA 10wt%. Microbead displacement was measured at 0, 100, 300, 500, 700 and 800 mbar. The displacement of multiple microbeads was measured with respect to the membrane.

#### 12.4.5. Hydrogel viability without PD

Viability for chondrocytes cultured in Dex/HA hydrogel in devices without PD treatment was evaluated. LIVE/DEAD staining can be seen in **Figure S.5**, for both hydrogels in static condition at day 11. Dex/HA 10w/t% conditions shows degradation of the hydrogel.



**Figure S.5**. LIVE/DEAD staining for Dex/HA 5wt% and Dex/HA 10wt% at day 11 static conditions, with living cells stained in green and dead cells stained red. Scalebars: 500 µm.

### 12.4.6. Cell deformation

Deformation of chondrocytes under stimulation of 350 mbar was determined by comparing the bright-field image to its static condition (0 mbar), as shown in **Figure S.6** for Dex/HA 5wt%. The circular shaped cells close to the membrane were deformed to an oval-shape under mechanical compression (yellow). This effect was not seen in the hydrogel section more close to the pillars, where the cells remained their circular shape (red).



**Figure S.6.** Shape of chondrocytes in Dex/HA 5wt% hydrogel in static condition (0 mbar) versus compression (350 mbar). The direction of the stimulation is indicated with the blue arrow. Scalebars:  $250 \mu m$ .

# 12.4.7. Statistical analysis qPCR

The statistical significance for all gene expression data was determined using one-way ANOVA and post hoc Tukey test, with significances p < 0,1 (\*), p < 0,05 (\*\*), p < 0,01 (\*\*\*), and p < 0,001 (\*\*\*\*), and listed in **Table S.5**.

**Table S.5.** Statistical analysis for all hydrogel conditions and measured gene expression, for  $\alpha = 0,001, 0,01, 0,05$ , and 0,1, ns: no significance.

		SOX9	ACAN	PRG4	IL-6	MMP-1	MMP-3	MMP-13	HYAL-1	HYAL-3	ADAMTS4	ADAMTS5
		α	α	α	α	α	α	α	α	α	α	α
Dex/HA 5	Dex/HA 5											
compression	static	ns	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,05	0,001
Dex/HA 10	Dex/HA 5											
static	static	0,001	0,05	0,001	0,001	ns	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001
Dex/HA 10	Dex/HA 5											
static	compression	0,01	0,001	ns	0,01	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,1
Dex/HA 10	Dex/HA 5	0.004	0.004		0.004	0.004	0.004	0.004		0.004		0.004
Compression	Static	0,001	0,001	ns	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	ns	0,001
Compression		0.01	0.001	0.001	0.01	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.01	0.001
Dev/HA 10	Dev/HA 10	0,01	0,001	0,001	0,01	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,01	0,001
compression	static	ns	0.01	0.01	ns	0.001	0.1	0.001	0 001	0 001	0 001	0.01
Agarose	Dex/HA 5		0,01	0,01		0,001	0,1	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,01
static	static	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	ns	0,001
Agarose	Dex/HA 5											
static	compression	0,001	0,001	0,1	ns	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,1	ns	ns
Agarose	Dex/HA 10											
static	static	0,01	0,001	0,01	0,1	0,001	0,001	ns	ns	0,001	0,001	ns
Agarose	Dex/HA 10											
static	compression	0,01	0,001	0,001	0,05	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,1	0,001
Agarose	Dex/HA 5	0.05	0.001	0.001	0.01		0.001	0.004	0.001	0.004	0.004	0.001
compression	Static	0,05	0,001	0,001	0,01	ns	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001
Agarose		ne	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.01
Agarose		115	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,01
compression	static	0.05	0 001	0.001	0.001	ns	ns	ns	ns	0 001	0.1	ns
Agarose	Dex/HA 10	0,00	0,001	0,001	0,001	110	110	110	110	0,001	0,1	110
compression	compression	0,05	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,05	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	ns
Agarose	Agarose	1	,	,	,	,	,	,	1	,	,	
compression	static	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	0,001	ns	ns	0,001	0,001	0,01

#### 12.4.8. Droplet culture

A hydrogel droplet culture was performed in addition to the cartilage-on-chip experiments. These experiments were performed to evaluate the behavior of human chondrocytes in a 3D hydrogel, for Dex/HA 10wt% and agarose 2%. A 25  $\mu$ L hydrogel droplet, containing 150.000 cells, was made in a suspension 12 wells plate (**Figure S.7**). After gelation, CPM was added to the wells and refreshed daily. The hydrogel droplets containing human chondrocytes were cultured for 11 days and analyzed using bright-field imaging and immunofluorescence staining.



*Figure S.7. A) Schematic overview of hydrogel droplets containing human chondrocytes in a 12 wells plate. B) Overview of Dex/HA 10wt% hydrogel droplet containing human chondrocytes at day 0. Scalebar: 2000 µm.* 

Chondrocytes cultured in Dex/HA 10wt% hydrogel did behave differently from the ones cultured in agarose (**Figure S.8**). The changes in cellular surface suggested that Dex/HA chondrocytes did start to attach to the hydrogel matrix.



*Figure S.8. Human chondrocyte culture in Dex/HA 10wt% droplet (A) and agarose 2% droplet (B). Scalebars: 200 µm.* 

The hydrogel droplets were analyzed using immunofluorescence staining. Staining for Aggrecan, MMP-13 and DAPI indicated elevated levels of MMP-13 for the Dex/HA 10wt% chondrocytes (**Figure S.9**).



**Figure S.9.** Immunofluorescence staining of hydrogel droplets Dex/HA 10wt% and agarose 2% at day 11. Images taken with EVOS fluorescence microscope; green (MMP-13), magenta (Aggrecan), and blue (nuclear staining, DAPI). Scalebars: 400 µm.



# **12.5. Additional data: Culture conditions** 12.5.1. Bright-field imaging monolayer culture

*Figure S.10.* Bright-field images of all conditions after 3 days of healthy or cytokine stimulated culture. Scalebars:  $400 \mu m$ .

### 12.5.2. Immunofluorescence staining

Phalloidin and Collagen VI staining was performed for all culture conditions (**Figure S.11**). Presence of Collagen VI, a major component of the chondrocyte peri-cellular matrix, was detected in 37 °C hypoxic cytokine stimulated condition, as indicated with a white arrow. Aggrecan deposition in the cytoskeleton was seen in the 33 °C healthy culture condition (**Figure S.12**).



**Figure S.11.** Phalloidin and Collagen VI immunofluorescence staining of all culture conditions, healthy and with cytokine stimulation, at day 3. White arrow indicates presence of Collagen VI. Images taken with EVOS fluorescence microscope; green (phalloidin), red (Collagen VI), and blue (nuclear staining, DAPI). Scalebars: 200  $\mu$ m.



**Figure S.12.** Phalloidin and Aggrecan immunofluorescence staining of all 33 °C healthy condition day 3, with focus on Aggrecan accumulation in cytoskeleton. Images taken with Nikon confocal; green (phalloidin), red (Aggrecan), and blue (nuclear staining, DAPI). Scalebars: 200  $\mu$ m.

#### 12.5.3. Viability

Viability of human chondrocytes cultured in a pellet system was not highly affected by cytokine stimulation for 33 °C and 37 °C hypoxic cultures (**Figure S.13**). Cytokine stimulation at 39 °C and conventional cultures did result in a significant difference of cell viability over time.



*Figure S.13. Pellet viability at day 0 and all day 3 conditions. Values are shown with*  $\pm$  *SD, with* p < 0,1 (\*), p < 0,05 (\*\*), p < 0,01 (\*\*\*), and p < 0,001 (\*\*\*\*). N = 4.

# 12.5.4. Bright-field imaging pellets



*Figure S.14.* Day 3 images of 37 °C and 39 °C hypoxic cultures and conventional culture in healthy and cytokine stimulated conditions. Scalebars: 100  $\mu$ m.

#### 12.5.5. Metabolic activity

Metabolic activity of human chondrocytes cultured in a pellet system was determined using a PrestoBlue assay. Cytokine cocktail promoted the metabolic activity for 39 °C and conventional cultures (**Figure S.15**).



*Figure S.15.* Fold change of metabolic activity assay for all pellet cultures, at 33 °C, 37 °C, and 39 °C hypoxic conditions and conventional condition. Values are expressed with  $\pm$  SD, with p < 0,1 (\*), p < 0,05 (\*\*), p < 0,01 (\*\*\*\*), and p < 0,001 (\*\*\*\*). N = 3.

#### 12.5.6. Gene expression – Raw CT values

Due to the potential unreliable origin of GAPDH expression, because of its dependence on the glucose metabolism, raw CT values were considered in this section. High Ct value, meaning a high threshold cycle, indicates a low expression of the gene. Values equal to zero were undetermined, indicating no expression. Overall progress was comparable, but 33 °C data is highly influenced by its high GAPDH expression (**Figure 48**) and may therefore not be completely reliable.



*Figure S.16. Raw CT values (upper row) and relative gene expression (2<sup>-\DeltaCt</sup>, bottom row) for SOX9 and COMP. Values are expressed with*  $\pm$  *SD,* N = 2*.* 

#### 12.5.7. Gene expression

SOX9 expression was downregulated under stimulation of IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$ , whether no significant difference was determined between healthy and cytokine stimulated cultures (**Figure S.17**).



**Figure S.17.** Relative gene expression of SOX9 for the conventional monolayer culture. Graphs express the  $2^{-ACt}$  values, normalized for housekeeping gene GAPDH. Values are expressed with  $\pm$  SD, with p < 0,1 (\*), p < 0,05 (\*\*), p < 0,01 (\*\*\*), and p < 0,001 (\*\*\*\*). N = 3.

Collagen I expression for the monolayer chondrocytes was highly upregulated for healthy 39 °C and IL-1 $\beta$  37 °C and 39 °C hypoxic conditions (**Figure S.18**). IL-1 $\beta$  did highly influence Collagen I production in hypoxic culture. The data suggests that cells cultured at 37 °C and 39 °C hypoxic conditions are more prone to create hypertrophic tissue, while for 33 °C hypoxic culture and the conventional culture Collagen I was produced in only a small extent. When comparing the Collagen I monolayer expression to the pellet culture (**Figure S.19**), a remarkable increase in Collagen I positive cells for the 33 °C and conventional conditions were found, suggesting that the cells did become more hypertrophic. Conversely, for the 39 °C hypoxic condition, the Collagen I expression was lower with respect to its monolayer culture, suggesting that the chondrocytes did remain their phenotype. However, more markers should be considered to determine the state of differentiation.



**Figure S.18**. Relative gene expression of Collagen I for all 2D culture conditions. Graphs express the 2<sup>-ACt</sup> values, normalized for housekeeping gene GAPDH. Values are expressed with  $\pm$  SD, N = 3, with p < 0.1 (\*), p < 0.05 (\*\*), p < 0.01 (\*\*\*), and p < 0.001 (\*\*\*\*).



**Figure S.19**. Relative gene expression of Collagen I for all Pellet culture conditions. Graphs express the  $2^{-\Delta Ct}$  values, normalized for housekeeping gene GAPDH. Values are expressed with  $\pm$  SD, N = 3, with p < 0,1 (\*), p < 0,05 (\*\*), p < 0,01 (\*\*\*), and p < 0,001 (\*\*\*\*).